

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Arsenic biogeochemical cycling in paddy soil-rice system: Interaction with various factors, amendments and mineral nutrients



Muhammad Mahroz Hussain^a, Irshad Bibi^{a,*}, Nabeel Khan Niazi^{a,b,*}, Muhammad Shahid^c, Jibran Iqbal^d, Muhammad Bilal Shakoor^e, Arslan Ahmad ^{f.g.h}, Noor Samad Shah^c, Prosun Bhattacharya^h, Kang Maoⁱ, Jochen Bundschuh^j, Yong Sik Ok^k, Hua Zhangⁱ

^a Institute of Soil and Environmental Sciences, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad 38040, Pakistan

- ^b School of Civil Engineering and Surveying, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, Queensland, Australia
- ^c Department of Environmental Sciences, COMSATS University Islamabad, Vehari Campus, Vehari, Pakistan
- ^d College of Natural and Health Sciences, Zayed University, P.O. Box 144534, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
- ^e College of Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of the Punjab, Lahore 54000, Pakistan
- ^f KWR Water Cycle Research Institute, Groningenhaven 7, 3433 PE Nieuwegein, the Netherlands
- ^g Department of Environmental Technology, Wageningen University and Research (WUR), Droevendaalsesteeg 4, 6708 PB Wageningen, the Netherlands
- h KTH-International Groundwater Arsenic Research Group, Department of Sustainable Development, Environmental Science and Engineering, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Teknikringen 10B, SE-100 44 Stockholm, Sweden
- ¹ State Key Laboratory of Environmental Geochemistry, Institute of Geochemistry, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Guiyang, 550081, China
- ^j UNESCO Chair on Groundwater Arsenic within the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, University of Southern Queensland, West Street, Toowoomba, 4350, Queensland, Australia
- ^k Korea Biochar Research Center, APRU Sustainable Waste Management Program, & Division of Environmental Science and Ecological Engineering, Korea University, Seoul 02841, Republic of Korea

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- This review describes occurrence and geochemistry of arsenic (As) in paddy soil-rice system.
- Impact of biotic and abiotic factors on As (im)mobilization in paddy soil is elucidated.
- As interaction with organic/inorganic amendments, and mineral nutrients is discussed.
- Updated and key scientific information for limiting As uptake by rice is presented.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 November 2020 Received in revised form 2 January 2021 Accepted 2 January 2021 Available online 29 January 2021

Editor: Mae Sexauer Gustin

Keywords: Contamination Food security Groundwater



ABSTRACT

Arsenic (As) contamination is a well-recognized environmental and health issue, threatening over 200 million people worldwide with the prime cases in South and Southeast Asian and Latin American countries. Rice is mostly cultivated under flooded paddy soil conditions, where As speciation and accumulation by rice plants is controlled by various geo-environmental (biotic and abiotic) factors. In contrast to other food crops, As uptake in rice has been found to be substantially higher due to the prevalence of highly mobile and toxic As species, arsenite (As(III)), under paddy soil conditions. In this review, we discussed the biogeochemical cycling of As in paddy soil-rice system, described the influence of critical factors such as pH, iron oxides, organic matter, microbial species, and pathways affecting As transformation and accumulation by rice. Moreover, we elucidated As interaction with organic and inorganic amendments and mineral nutrients. The review also elaborates on As (im) mobilization processes and As uptake by rice under the influence of different mineral nutrients and amendments in paddy soil conditions, as well as their role in mitigating As transfer to rice grain. This review article provides

* Corresponding authors at: Institute of Soil and Environmental Sciences, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad 38040, Pakistan. E-mail addresses: irshad.niazi81@gmail.com, irshad.niazi@uaf.edu.pk (I. Bibi), nabeelkniazi@gmail.com, nabeel.niazi@uaf.edu.pk (N.K. Niazi). Health risk Oxidation and reduction Soil amendments UN sustainable development goals critical information on As contamination in paddy soil-rice system, which is important to develop suitable strategies and mitigation programs for limiting As exposure via rice crop, and meet the UN's key Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs: 2 (zero hunger), 3 (good health and well-being), 12 (responsible consumption and production), and 13 (climate action)).

© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction							
2.	Sources, geochemistry and distribution of arsenic – A brief overview							
3.	Paddy	ldy soils arsenic contamination and impact of various factors	4					
	3.1.	Arsenic transfer from irrigation water in paddy soil-rice system	4					
	3.2.	Effect of pH and redox potential (E_h)	4					
	3.3.	Organic matter-arsenic interactions	5					
	3.4.	Clay mineralogy	5					
	3.5.	Biotransformation pathways of arsenic: Microbial interactions	5					
		3.5.1. Arsenic methylation pathways in rhizosphere and microbial cells	6					
4.	Arser	enic interaction with inorganic and organic amendments in flooded soil conditions	8					
	4.1.	Inorganic amendments-arsenic interaction	8					
		4.1.1. Gypsum	8					
		4.1.2. Lignite	8					
		4.1.3. Iron-based modifiers	8					
		4.1.4. Manganese (Mn)	9					
	4.2.	Organic amendments-arsenic interaction	9					
		4.2.1. Biochar	9					
		4.2.2. Other organic amendments	9					
		4.2.3. Advantages and disadvantages of the organic and inorganic amendments	. 10					
5.	Effect	ect of mineral nutrition on arsenic availability and uptake by rice	. 10					
	5.1.	Phosphorus (P)	. 10					
	5.2.	Silicon (Si)	. 11					
	5.3.	Sulfur (S)	. 11					
	5.4.	Nitrogen (N)	. 11					
6.	Concl	nclusions and future outlook	. 12					
Declaration of competing interest.								
Acknowledgements								
Appendix A. Supplementary data 1								
References								

1. Introduction

Arsenic (As) contamination of terrestrial and aquatic systems represents a persistent global problem, especially in South and Southeast Asian and Latin American countries (Hussain et al., 2019b; Naidu et al., 2006; Thounaojam and Khan, 2020). Approximately 200 million people worldwide have been reported to be at risk of As poisoning, either directly from drinking As-contaminated groundwater or indirectly via ingestion of As-laced food crops, mainly rice (Oryza sativa L.) that is irrigated with As-contaminated groundwater (Bhattacharya and Bundschuh, 2015; Roy Chowdhury et al., 2020). Arsenic mobility and phytoavailability to rice increases under submerged paddy soil conditions due to transformation of arsenate (As(V)) to highly toxic arsenite (AsIII)) (Abedin et al., 2002a; Carrijo et al., 2019; Kumarathilaka et al., 2018; Meharg, 2004). In terrestrial ecosystems, both natural (weathering of rocks, hot springs) and anthropogenic (e.g., mining, smelting, coal burning, use of As-containing pesticides and herbicides in agriculture and irrigation with As-contaminated water) processes have contributed to As contamination of agricultural paddy soils (Ahmad et al., 2020b; Hussain et al., 2019b; Shahid et al., 2018; Shakoor et al., 2018; Upadhyay et al., 2019). The World Health Organization (WHO) has set a safe limit of As at 10 μ g L⁻¹ for drinking water and at 100 μ g L⁻¹ for irrigation water (WHO, 2011).

Rice is consumed as one of the major staple foods by around 3 billion people, mainly in Asian countries, to provide their energy (70%) and

protein (50%) requirements. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) has recommended a safe limit of 0.2 mg kg⁻¹ dry weight (DW) in rice grain that was decreased from FAO's previous safe limit of 1.0 mg kg⁻¹ DW (Codex Alimentarius Commission et al., 2016). Laborte et al. (2017) reported that about 115 countries in the world cultivate and produce rice, and around half of the regions in Asia have 2 to 3 rice crop planting seasons. In temperate climate, production of rice is limited to once cropping each year and the main rice growing season varies from country to country (Laborte et al., 2017). Rice plants are cultivated under flooded soil conditions in many countries, especially in Bangladesh, India, Pakistan and China, and this promotes the redox transformation of comparatively less toxic As(V) to more toxic, mobile and phytoavailable As(III) species (Abedin et al., 2002a; Nafees et al., 2011; Seddique et al., 2008; Suriyagoda et al., 2018).

The biogeochemical behavior of As in paddy soil-rice system makes it easily available for plant uptake and subsequent accumulation in rice grain (Halder et al., 2013; Halder et al., 2012; Herath et al., 2016; Hussain et al., 2019b; Shahid et al., 2018). Arsenic speciation and plant availability in the paddy soil environment is controlled by different factors such as redox potential (E_h), pH, organic matter content, phosphate (PO₄), sulfate (SO₄), iron (Fe) oxides, manganese (Mn), and microbial species (Abbas et al., 2018; Abedin et al., 2002b; Niazi et al., 2017; Upadhyay et al., 2019). Given the dynamic biogeochemistry of As in paddy soils, scientists have directed efforts to understand As uptake by rice plants in paddy soils (Bhattacharya et al., 2013). Under submerged soil conditions, microbial consumption of O₂ leads to the anoxic conditions which leads to As release by reductive dissolution of Fe (oxy)hydroxides (Herath et al., 2016). Overall, inorganic forms of As are taken up by rice root considerably in higher amount than that of organic As compounds (Bhowmick et al., 2018; Dawe et al., 2003; Islam et al., 2012; Islam et al., 2017). Total As content in uncontaminated soil usually ranges from 0.1 to 10 mg kg⁻¹ (Zhao et al., 2010). The European Union (EU) recommends that the total As content of soils for agricultural purpose should be $< 20 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ (Kumarathilaka et al., 2020b). The presence of high As concentration in soil depends not only on soil As concentration, but also on various geo-environmental (biotic and abiotic) factors as mentioned above. The climatic and geomorphic features of a region such as precipitation, surface runoff, infiltration rate, and groundwater level; and their fluctuations also affect the migration and redistribution of As, although these factors are beyond the discussion of this review.

In recent years, there has been a great interest to examine the effect of different organic and inorganic amendments (e.g., biochar, compost, phosphate, farmyard manure) on As uptake by rice plants (Norton et al., 2017; Wan et al., 2019; Zia et al., 2017). Some recent research has also focused on As immobilization using different strategies (Table 1), such as biochar (Bakshi et al., 2018), water management practices, and foliar application of different elements (Norton et al., 2017; Wan et al., 2019; Zia et al., 2017). In an earlier review, Suriyagoda et al. (2018) discussed various physiological, biochemical and mechanistic aspects of As uptake and translocation in rice grains growing under paddy soil conditions. Recently, Kumarathilaka et al. (2020b) provided information on various agronomic/biological methods, water management practices and microbial inoculation to possibly decrease soil-plant transfer of As in rice crop. In another recent review, Kumarathilaka et al. (2018) elaborated, particularly As speciation dynamics, in paddy soil-rice environments, and Mitra et al. (2017) described mitigation approaches for reducing As threat in rice crop in comparison to other food crops. Previously, Bakhat et al. (2017) demonstrated the physiological and molecular aspects of As toxicity and accumulation in rice plants, and discussed some As mitigation strategies (e.g., water management, bioremediation) with a focus on the role of biochemical and molecular pathways.

This review provides a brief overview of the biogeochemical cycling of As in paddy soils and information advancing knowledge on the importance of As interaction with various biotic and abiotic components in paddy soil. In addition, we discuss the use of different organic and inorganic amendments and mineral nutrients that could be used to reduce As uptake by rice. Key factors, including microbial processes, and mechanisms related to As speciation and volatilization in paddy soilrice environments are also discussed to give a better understanding on As mitigation options in rice.

2. Sources, geochemistry and distribution of arsenic – A brief overview

Arsenic is a toxic metalloid that is widely present in the Earth's crust. Important minerals of As in the environment are arsenical pyrite (FeAsS), realgar (AsS) and orpiment (As₂S₃) (Khosravi et al., 2019; Natasha et al., 2021; Smedley and Kinniburgh, 2001). In addition to natural sources, anthropogenic activities that include agricultural use of Asbased pesticides and herbicides, wood preservatives, mining and smelting, and coal combustion processes (Khosravi et al., 2019) release As into the environment. Geogenic As sources, particularly weathering of the parent material and alluvial sediments, have contributed in contamination of agricultural soils with As. For example, the weathering of As-containing minerals such as claudetite (As₂O₃) and bearsite (Be₂

Table 1

The interaction of different amendments on (im)mobilization of arsenic (As) in paddy soils.

Soil As contamination	Soil As (mg kg ⁻¹)	Soil amendment type	Arsenic removal efficiency (%)	References
Natural paddy soil	105	Titanium gypsum	38%	(Zhai et al., 2020a)
Natural paddy soil	47	Calcium-based magnetic biochaSr (Ca-MBC)	Increase As concentration by 40.6% (translocated from soil)	(Wu et al., 2020)
Natural paddy soil	33	Wet-dry cycle, Organic matter, gypsum, and hematite	Gypsum, and hematite reduced arsenic mobility in the soil by 8–60%, Organic matter increased arsenic mobility by 70–130% (translocated from soil)	(Yuan et al., 2020)
Natural paddy soil	138	Fe-Mn-Ce oxide-modified biochar composites (FMCBCs)	69.36% (roots) 51.42% (Stem) 47.27% (Leaves) 73.58% (grains)	(Lian et al., 2020)
Natural paddy soil	105	Combined amendment (CF) was prepared by mixing calcium sulfate (CaSO ₄ ·2H ₂ O) and ferric oxide (Fe ₂ O ₃) at a ratio of 9:1. CaSO ₄ and Fe ₂ O ₃	55.5% and 69.3%	(Zhai et al., 2020b)
Natural paddy soil	1.76	Zinc oxide nanoparticles (ZnONPs) and zinc ions (Zn^{2+})	Reduced by 39.5% and — 83.3%	(Ma et al., 2020a)
Natural paddy soil	288	Goethite-modified biochar (GB)	32.2% - 46.6%	(Irshad et al., 2020)
Natural paddy soil	21	Fe-based biochar	18%	(Tang et al., 2020b)
Natural paddy soil	6.69	Hybrid rice varieties and conventional rice varieties	31% - 38%	(Cao et al., 2020)
Natural paddy soil	Not given	Bismuth-impregnated biochar and wheat straw biochar (WBC)	Reduced As mobility with Bismuth-impregnated biochar and wheat straw biochar results in the increase in the As mobility and bioavailability	(Zhu et al., 2019)
Natural paddy soil	132	woody peat and $Fe(NO_3)_3$	significantly decreased As and Cd in pore water and enhance the immobile phase of As and Cd	(Wang et al., 2019b)
Natural paddy soil	249	Biochar and zero-valent iron (ZVI)	47%	(Qiao et al., 2019)
Natural paddy soil	23	Soil microbial fuel cells (sMFC)	It enhances the As concentration	(Gustave et al., 2019)
Natural paddy soil	101	Alternate wetting and drying/Water management	84% and 81%	(Wang et al., 2019a)
Artificially spiked soil	10, 25, 50 and 100	Iron (Fe), phosphate (PO ₄) and farmyard manure (FYM) and Rice genotypes	24% and 14%	(Irem et al., 2019)
Natural paddy soil	96	Organic fertilizer	Bioavailable As content increased by 3.2 times at -400 mV	(Shen et al., 2020)
Natural paddy soil	132	Poorly crystalline Fe oxides (PC-Fe), FeCl ₂ + NaNO ₃ and FeCl ₂	54%, 52% and 46%	(Yu et al., 2017a)
Natural paddy soil	15 and 76.8	Biochar and oyster shell waste	62.3%	(Chen et al., 2018)
Natural paddy soil	15.7	Irrigation and rice genotype	17% to 35%	(Islam et al., 2017)
Natural paddy soil	1540	Gypsum and gypsum+lime	48-64%	(Kim et al., 2018)

 $(AsO_4)(OH).4H_2O)$ has been associated with the elevated As concentration in rice field (50 to 90 mg kg⁻¹) of Manipur, India (Chandrashekhar et al., 2016). The degradation of As minerals (e.g., FeAsS) and the associated secondary As-bearing Fe oxide minerals are the major causes of As contamination of rice in paddy soils globally, and particularly in South and Southeast Asia. Arsenic concentration in different soil sediments around the world with varying sampling depths is given in Table S1, Supplementary Information.

Arsenic is found in various natural reservoirs such as oceans, rocks, atmosphere, biota and soil, but > 99% of As is present in rocks and minerals (Francesconi and Kuehnelt, 2001). In sandy sediments, As concentration is usually found below 10 mg kg⁻¹ and in peat and clay-rich sediments As levels may reach up to 100 mg kg $^{-1}$ (Hussain et al., 2019b). For example, the source of As in India (West Bengal), China, Bangladesh, Taiwan, Vietnam, Pakistan and Nepal is attributed to the oxidation and reduction of As-rich Fe oxide minerals, deposited from Himalayas in the Bangal Delta, Ganges-Brahmaputra and Indus-Basin (Bhattacharya et al., 2007; Naidu and Bhattacharya, 2009; Naidu et al., 2006; Ormachea Muñoz et al., 2016). Under reduced conditions, alluvial sediments containing As are often associated with the migration of As into groundwater (von Brömssen et al., 2007), due to dissolution of minerals (Suriyagoda et al., 2018) (Fig. 1). Notably, these reactions control the presence of As in groundwater, which depends on various biotic and abiotic factors, including distribution of the peat deposits/dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (Shahid et al., 2017), groundwater movement, pH, bicarbonate, Fe/Mn oxides, as well as microbial species (Hossain et al., 2014; Sracek et al., 2004). Under anaerobic conditions like in paddy soils, As concentrations can increase and reach up to hundreds of micrograms per liter.

Poor infrastructure and the absence of accessibility compels majority of the farmers in Bangladesh, Pakistan, and India to depend on existing groundwater resources for irrigation and rice crop production that might be contaminated with As (Brammer, 2009; Islam et al., 2012; Ravenscroft et al., 2009). As a result, soil receiving As-contaminated irrigation water from pumps also becomes contaminated with As over time. For example, As concentration of paddy soils in the range of 0.68-72 mg kg⁻¹ have been reported in Bangladesh, Pakistan, and China (Table S1, Supplementary Information). Recharge of aquifers under the unconsolidated sediments by rainwater or flood water triggers reduction of Fe(*oxy*)hydroxides releasing As into groundwater (Shakoor et al., 2018). Consequently, the combination of natural enrichment and human disruption of groundwater resources leads to inorganic As release (Hu et al., 2013; Kumarathilaka et al., 2018; Nakaya et al., 2018). Arsenic through irrigation water is accumulated mainly in the upper soil layer (0–20 cm, i.e., rice plants rhizoplane) (Suriyagoda et al., 2018). Paddy soils are submerged for a longer period of time during the growth cycle of rice plants (3–4 months), and therefore, could undergo several physical and redox mediated chemical reactions as illustrated in Fig. 3 (Upadhyay et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2017a).

3. Paddy soils arsenic contamination and impact of various factors

3.1. Arsenic transfer from irrigation water in paddy soil-rice system

The accumulation of As in rice shoot and grain varies with irrigation water type. Groundwater, which is a major source of irrigation water, normally enters the rice fields through water channels. High As concentration is usually found in the irrigation water near entrance of water channel, and gradually decreases as a function of distance from the entrance (Neumann et al., 2014). At low flow rates, long residence time results in the aggregation of As bound to clay and Fe(*oxy*)hydroxides. Therefore, slow flow rates decrease As concentration along irrigation channel gradually (Dittmar et al., 2007). Conversely, a fast flow rate through the distribution channels leads to a short residence time, limiting the accumulation of As-containing colloids and subsequent settling (Fig. 3) (Neumann et al., 2010; Neumann et al., 2014).

Chemical changes can reduce total As concentration along the flushing channel. The basic principle is oxidation of As(III) to As(V) (Kabir et al., 2016) attained by diffusion of atmospheric oxygen in water used for irrigation. Iron(III) oxides can also help in oxidation of As(III) to As (V) (Roberts et al., 2004). Bioavailability of As can be increased by indigenous microbes present in the rhizosphere through siderophore production by solubilizing Fe(*oxy*)hydroxide that can bind As up to 160 mg kg⁻¹ at the root-plaque interface (Kraemer, 2004). The formation of rootplaque can affect mobility and bioavailability of As in paddy soil-rice system, whereby both Fe and Mn co-exist at the root surface in root-plaques of rice plants. Iron concentrations in paddy soils are thought to play a major role in driving root plaque formation and concentration on rice roots. Therefore, rice genotypes grown on high Fe content paddy soil may have higher Fe plaques than the same rice genotypes grown on low Fe content paddy soil, causing As immobilization (Kraemer, 2004).

3.2. Effect of pH and redox potential (E_h)

Rice grain As concentration and soil pH showed a positive correlation with As in soil solution (Bhattacharya et al., 2002; Maity et al., 2017; Sandhi et al., 2017; von Brömssen et al., 2007). Changes in E_h and pH drive redox transformation and bioavailability of As in terrestrial



Fig. 1. Release mechanisms of arsenic (As) under different redox conditions (Modified from (Oremland and Stolz, 2003).

ecosystems, including the paddy soil-rice system (Fig. 1). Microbemediated redox transformation and dissolution of Fe(oxy)hydroxides are key factors for As speciation in paddy soil environment (Punshon et al., 2018; Punshon et al., 2017; Smedley and Kinniburgh, 2002). Under paddy soil conditions, $E_{\rm h}$ decreases (up to $-200 \, {\rm mV}$) because oxygen as the electron acceptor is depleted and the development of anoxic conditions leads to dissolution of Fe(oxy)hydroxides (Meharg and Rahman, 2003), promoting release of sorbed As into soil solution. In conventional rice management, rice fields are subjected to alternate flooded and non-flooded conditions in the early stages or in final stages of rice growth (Kumarathilaka et al., 2018). In flooded soil conditions, oxidation and reduction reactions occur continuously resulting in fluctuating redox potential (E_h : +700 to -300 mV; between high and low E_h), thus triggering reduction of Fe(III), Mn(IV), SO₄, and methane generation (Frohne et al., 2011). If E_h becomes negative, as under paddy soils, the ratio of As(III)/As(V) in soil solution becomes high under flooded conditions (Nath et al., 2014).

3.3. Organic matter-arsenic interactions

Organic matter plays a significant role in determining As speciation in paddy fields (Rahaman et al., 2011). In rice cultivation, organic matter in the form of biofertilizer or rice stubble is added to soil and its roots are reintegrated into rice field after the crop harvest (Williams et al., 2011). Arsenic mobility is controlled by soil organic matter (SOM) content along with the chemical characteristics (Radloff et al., 2017).

Researchers have demonstrated that combined use of mountain thyme and poultry manure in rice fields contaminated with As reduced the total As content in rice tissue (Ajiboye et al., 2004; Batista et al., 2016; Bauer and Blodau, 2006; Dawe et al., 2003; Eiche et al., 2017). For instance, Fu et al. (2011) found a negative correlation between total As contents in rice tissue and SOM, with As concentration ranging from 20 to 1160 μ g kg⁻¹ DW (Tables S1 and S2, Supplementary Information). However, negatively charged functional groups in DOC can compete with As on Fe(III) oxides surface for available binding sites and increase mobility and uptake of As by rice plants. The concentration of DOC can also enhance activity of Fe(III) reducing bacteria that promotes the reduction of Fe(*oxy*)hydroxides, and causes As release into soil pore water (Bhattacharya et al., 2007; Bundschuh and Maity, 2015; Chen et al., 2014b; Chen et al., 2016).

3.4. Clay mineralogy

Low E_h under paddy soil conditions may lead to increased flocculation and dispersion of clay particles facilitating migration of clay to bottom of the plow zone and forming a hard clay pan (Kögel-Knabner et al., 2010). The presence of clay minerals results in fine structured soil with a relatively large surface area. Iron (oxy)hydroxides are mainly coprecipitated on the surface of clay particles that enhances the retention of As in paddy soil and decreases uptake by rice plants (Mohapatra et al., 2007). Surface runoff caused by heavy rains and the subsequent destruction of soil structure by tillage are the key causes of loss of the clay minerals during plantation of rice fields negatively affecting As immobilization (Kögel-Knabner et al., 2010; Regmi et al., 2013).

Various factors can affect sorption and redox forms of As in paddy soils, including the crystal structure and type of clay minerals. Secondary mineral deposits on surface of the clay minerals can change physico-chemical characteristics of mineral surfaces and impair the ability of clay mineral to adsorb As (Uddin, 2017). A long-term process (several months) can reduce extractability of As retained by the mineral and is considered to be important when restoring As-contaminated soils. Aging can be another vital factor that can impact the extractability and oxidation/reduction of As associated with clay minerals (Bhattacharya et al., 2002; Garnier et al., 2010; Regmi et al., 2013). Unfortunately, the long-term interaction between As and clay surfaces is not fully understood and needs further investigation of As speciation and micro-scale distribution in rhizosphere of rice plants by employing advanced X-ray fluorescence (XRF) and X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) techniques.

3.5. Biotransformation pathways of arsenic: Microbial interactions

Microorganisms influence the forms of As in rhizosphere of rice plants directly and indirectly, and play a vital role in changing As biogeochemistry under flooded conditions (Gadd, 2010; Upadhyay et al., 2018). Under nutrient-restricted conditions, microorganisms can actively dissolve As-rich minerals to obtain nutrients for cell growth, thereby releasing As into pore water (Fig. 2) (Herath et al., 2020; Mailloux et al., 2009). Additionally, some favorable abiotic conditions could be generated through production of organic acids, polysaccharides and ligands that causes changes in As speciation and mobility in paddy soils for rice plant uptake (Cui et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2014; Upadhyay et al., 2018). Various bacterial species such as Desulfovibrio strain Ben-RB (Alam and McPhedran, 2019; Drewniak and Sklodowska, 2013), Shewanella oneidensis (Turpeinen et al., 2002), Desulfosporosinus auripigmentum (Cui et al., 2018), and Streptococcus disintegrate CN32 (Tsai et al., 2009) may promote formation of mineral-like As phases using As as a terminal electron acceptor (Wang et al., 2016). Jia et al. (2013) reported that the microbial-mediated redox processes could convert As from inorganic forms to organic species, e.g., MMA and DMA. The role of microbes in enhancing As bioavailability and their ability to carry out thiolation processes needs further exploration. Although As thiolation has been investigated in surface/ sub-surface, sulfide-rich sediments and aqueous systems, it remains poorly understood under paddy soil conditions (Awasthi et al., 2018; Herath et al., 2018; Hussain et al., 2020a; Hussain et al., 2019b).

Volatile As species are developed due to the methylation of As or in the form of arsine (AsH_3) gas under paddy soil conditions where microorganisms play a vital role (Table 2). Although different metastable, intermediate volatile As forms are produced (i.e., monomethylarsine (MeAsH₂), dimethylarsine (Me₂AsH₂) and trimethylarsine (TMA)), the final volatile As form obtained is gaseous AsH₃ (Hu et al., 2020; Huang, 2014). It can be trapped by microbial/algal biofilms under reducing conditions, and as a result can be oxidized to inorganic As, thus completing As cycle in paddy soil-rice environments, either by precipitating or depositing produced inorganic As back into the soil (Cullen, 2014; Herath et al., 2020; Hussain et al., 2020b). With a decrease in E_h and addition of organic material, biomethylation of As in soil increases with microbial aid (Fig. 2).

For example, after adding straw and animal manure, an increase in As volatilization in paddy soil was observed to decrease by 2-fold. Likewise, fungal inoculation enhanced As remediation up to 7-fold in highly As-contaminated paddy soils, using *Penicillium* and *Ulocladium* spp. (Grob et al., 2018; Upadhyay et al., 2018). Similarly, biomethylation can effectively form volatile As compounds (e.g., alkyl-arsines), thus increasing As losses into the atmosphere. Various As compounds are produced after biomethylation, including mono-methyl, di-methyl, trimethyl, As oxides. Volatile As species are more toxic and bioaccessible than the inorganic As forms; however, these are easily oxidized and demethylated in air. Hence, biological volatilization may provide an effective technique for remediation of As-contaminated soil (Table 2).

Arsenic volatilization mediated by microorganisms is inefficient hindering practical trials to apply it as a strategy for soil remediation. Gaseous As-hydrides evaporate from As-contaminated soil into the atmosphere slowly. Studies have shown that 0.5–70 µg As kg⁻¹ soil was volatilized over a year (Turpeinen et al., 1999; Wu et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2018). Genetically modified bacteria have been applied as a way to increase As methylation and volatilization in soils. The arsM (S-adenosyl methyltransferase) was isolated from *R. palustris* and encoded in *S. desiccabilis* and *B. idriensis* in aqueous media resulting in 9-fold higher As losses (volatilization) compared to wild strains (Grob et al., 2018; Mestrot et al., 2016; Mestrot et al., 2013).



Fig. 2. Interaction between different microbial process and its efficiency in arsenic (As) stress tolerance and growth promotion of plants (Reproduced with permission from the publisher, Hussain et al. (2019b)).

Arsenic in sludge (bio-solids) can be converted by microorganisms through multiple processes like redox reactions and biomethylation (Ojedokun and Bello, 2016). Soil microorganisms obtain their energy from soil organic carbon pool (Bhowmick et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2018) that is involved in reduction of As. Organic As compounds can also be present in the environment, but their concentrations are low. The retention of As(III) by inorganic soil components is not as strong as that of As(V), hence microbial-mediated reduction ultimately leads to highly mobile and bioavailable As species (Park et al., 2011).

3.5.1. Arsenic methylation pathways in rhizosphere and microbial cells

Microorganisms including bacteria, fungi, eukaryotic algae, and Archaea are responsible for conversion of As(III) to methylated As species. Microbial genes that code for As(III) methylation (arsM) for As treatment lead to formation of mono-, di-, tri- and tetra-methyl As species in paddy soil environments (Wang et al., 2014b). In reduced conditions, several factors may control As methylation processes. Firstly, diversity and activity of various anaerobic microbial species may enhance with As concentration; secondly, As(III) transformation increases under flooded conditions, and as such it is utilized as substrate and transform to methylated As form; thirdly, reductive dissolution of Fe/Mn oxides lead to desorption of methylated As (i.e., MMA(V) and DMA(V)) into soil solution (Zhao et al., 2013). It has been reported that rice plants do not have the ability to methylate As species in plant tissues. Therefore, the methylated As compounds present in rice are produced by microbial-mediated methylation of As in plant rhizosphere (Zhao et al., 2013).

In addition, various cellular mechanisms may occur in microorganisms that help them in methylation-demethylation cycling of As in paddy soils. For example, S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) and methylcobalamin have been reported in As methylation as both act as methyl donor for As methylation process under paddy soil conditions (Bentley and Chasteen, 2002). In microbial cells, As(V) could be reduced to As(III) by GSH followed by As(III) catalysis via methyltransferase enzyme that accepts methyl group from SAM to form MMAs(V) and subsequently MMAs(III) (Zakharyan and Aposhian, 1999). Methylcobalamin can convert As(III) directly into MMAs(V) and



Fig. 3. Impacts of arsenic (As)-contaminated irrigation water on As uptake by rice in paddy soils.



Fig. 4. Arsenic (As) interaction with iron (Fe) amendments in paddy soil conditions and uptake by rice plants (Modified from Wang et al. (2018b)).

DMAs(V) under reducing soil conditions without involvement of methyltransferase enzyme, in the presence of GSH (Zakharyan and Aposhian, 1999).

Microorganisms can also demethylate As into inorganic arsenical compounds in paddy soil conditions. In a previous study, it was demonstrated that *Burkholderia* sp. MR1 can transform DMAs(V) to MMAs(V), but it was unable to further demethylate MMAs(V) to inorganic As species under paddy soil environments (Lehr et al., 2003). However, *Streptomyces* sp. MD1 was able to transform MMAs(V) to inorganic As(V) species. This indicates that demethylation of methylated



Fig. 5. Schematic diagram of multiple mechanisms carried out by the application of various organic and inorganic amendments, and the role of multiple transporters on arsenic (As) uptake and effluxes in rice plants (Modified from Awasthi et al. (2017b)).

Table 2

The role of microbes in biotransformation and transformation pathways of arsenic in paddy soils.

Microbial species	Source	Major As species	Reference
Pseudomonas putida (with R. palustris arsM)	Paddy soil	DMAs(V)	(Chen et al., 2014a)
Streptomyces sp.	Rice rhizosphere	MMAs(V), DMAs(V)	(Kuramata et al., 2015)
Proteobacteria, Gemmatimonadales,	13 paddy soils	Arsenite (As(III)) oxidase genes (aioA),	(Zhang et al., 2015b)
and Firmicutes	collected across Southern China	respiratory arsenate $(As(V))$ reductase genes $(arrA)$,	
		As(V) reductase genes (arsC), and As(III)	
		S-adenosylmethionine	
		methyltransferase genes (arsM)	
Arsenic methylation	5 paddy soils with low-As	Arsenate reduction genes (ars) dominated in all soil	(Xiao et al., 2016)
bacteria	concentration	samples,	
		and significant correlation existed between the	
		abundance of arr (arsenate respiration), aio	
		(arsenite oxidation), and arsM (arsenite methylation) genes	
Sulfate-reducing	Mekong Delta paddy soil	DMAs(V)	(Reid et al., 2017)
bacteria			
Arsenic methylated-genes	Paddy soils, Pakistan	aioA and arsM with Tri-As	(Hashmi et al., 2020)
(microbes)			
Bradyrhizobium, Bryobacter,	Mining site	-	(Li et al., 2020)
Candidatus Solibacter, Geobacter,			
Gemmatimonas, Halingium, and Sphingomonas			
Geobacter and Hydrogenophaga	Paddy soil (Fe-plaque)	arsC (encoding As(V) reductase) and arsB genes	(Hu et al., 2019)
		(encoding As(III) efflux membrane protein)	
Multiple bacterial strains	Paddy -rice system	Geo, arsC and arsM	(Xue et al., 2020)
Fe(III) reducing bacteria Geobacteraceae and	Paddy soil	-	(Tang et al., 2020a)
sulfate			
reducing gene dsrA			
Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Geobacter,	Paddy soil	arsM	(Yan et al., 2020)
Sphingomonas, Streptomyces, and			
Rhodopseudomonas			
Geobacter and Shewanella; Gammaproteobacteria	Paddy soil	arsM gene	(Yang et al., 2020)

As species is coordinated by multiple microorganisms performing their specific functions during demethylation process (Table 2). However, recent research showed that some of microbial species (such as *Nostoc* sp.) can perform both these processes by converting dimethyl As to monomethyl As followed by transformation into inorganic As species (Yan et al., 2015).

The addition of methylated As (i.e., MMAs(V) and DMAs(V)) into paddy soil increases volatilization losses of As considerably since biotransformation of methylated As to volatile As forms occurs quickly (Mestrot et al., 2013). Arsenic is more volatile under flooded soil conditions than in the aerobic soils. This is partly because under flooded soil conditions the activity and abundance of As methylating microorganisms increases (Di et al., 2019).

4. Arsenic interaction with inorganic and organic amendments in flooded soil conditions

4.1. Inorganic amendments-arsenic interaction

4.1.1. Gypsum

A few studies have focused on the immobilization of As under paddy soil conditions, whereby gypsum was used in combination with other amendments (Zhang et al., 2015a; Qayyum et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2018). Fernandez-Martinez et al. (2008) examined the effect of DOC coagulants as metal fixatives for plant growth. Gypsum as a DOC coagulant has been tested for the efficiency of simultaneously immobilizing Cd, Pb, and As in agricultural soils surrounding mining areas. The incorporation of gypsum at 3% (wt/wt) into soil resulted in better immobilization of As than that of Cd and Pb (Kim et al., 2018). Lime, compost, and a mixture containing lime and gypsum were used to evaluate uptake of these toxic elements by *A. gigas* and *A. macrocephala*. Arsenic uptake was lower compared to Pb and Cd under the impact of gypsum. Results indicated that gypsum immobilized As up to 76%, Cd by 54% and Pb 46% (Table 1) (Kim et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018).

4.1.2. Lignite

Lignite application in the remediation of As under paddy soil environments has been partially explored, but its application in immobilization of other potentially toxic elements has been investigated (Rehman, 2007; Rehman et al., 2017). Arsenic sorption potential of various geological materials such as lignite, bentonite, shale, and Fe-rich sand was evaluated in batch incubation experiments (Mar et al., 2013; Rehman, 2007) (Table 1). Results showed that, among these geological materials, lignite was the most promising material for As(V) immobilization followed by bentonite, shale, and Fe-rich sand. However, the amount of As(III) adsorbed by all these geological materials was found to be lower than that of As(V). Thus, it is important to take into account the As species present before applying inorganic amendments for remediation and restoration programs of As in paddy soil environments.

4.1.3. Iron-based modifiers

Among many inorganic modifiers that can help immobilize As in paddy soils, Fe-containing modifiers have very strong impact on the sorption properties of soil and that is why these are considered promising in regulating As mobilization under paddy fields (Irem et al., 2019; Matsumoto et al., 2016; Matsumoto et al., 2015; Zou et al., 2018). As soon as the density of surface sites is reduced sufficiently to question the occupancy of As sites, the reduction of Fe leads to desorption of As. However, for Fe(oxy)hydroxides such as ferrihydrite, hematite, and magnetite, whose redox chemistry can change under submerged paddy soil conditions, making As adsorption-desorption complicated. In addition, the regulated release of As(III) from ferrihydrite in pore water varies with reaction time. Prolonged Fe(III) reduction and dissolution processes can ultimately lead to release of As(III) into soil pore water in paddy soils. Essentially, three competitive processes occur during the reaction process that together determine dissolved concentration of As(III): (i) desorption due to chemical imbalance during pore water exchange (flow); (ii) Fe phase retention for transformation; and (iii) As release from the dissolved ferric phase (Table 1) (Burton et al., 2009; Fendorf et al., 2010; Johnston et al., 2015; Niazi and Burton, 2016). Iron minerals can also decrease As mobility (e.g., Fe sulfate, zero-valent Fe (Fe(0)), red mud, steel shot) minimizing As solubility and toxicity and limiting As uptake by rice (Fig. 4) (Nagar et al., 2013).

Use of Fe(*oxy*)hydroxides reduces solubility and uptake of As under paddy field conditions mainly due to adsorption and co-precipitation pathways. Notably, the effectiveness of Fe(*oxy*)hydroxides in reducing absorption of As by rice plants in paddy soils is attributed to the type, size, crystallinity of Fe (oxy)hydroxides, soil E_h , pH, (Fig. 4), as well as amount of the root exudates or inorganic and organic ligands (Burton et al., 2009; Johnston et al., 2015; Niazi and Burton, 2016).

Iron-based amendments have been used for sequestering As in paddy soils to reduce its accumulation by rice (Table S4, Supplementary Information) (Juang et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2017a; Zou et al., 2018). For example, Yu et al. (2017a) noted that the poorly crystalline Fe oxides (PC-Fe) were a more promising (54%) Fe amendment than that of FeCl₂-NaNO₃ (52%) and FeCl₂ (46%) in decreasing rice grain As content over control at the filling stage. Moreover, data from 2% Fe oxide application are very consistent. Farrow et al. (2015) applied (2%) Fe oxide to As-contaminated soil and found that Fe oxide based amendments significantly decreased As concentration in rice grain (67%, i.e., from 0.16 to 0.05 mg As kg^{-1} DW), suggesting that the Fe oxide (hematite, magnetite) amendment to be feasible for reducing grain As content. However, the authors indicated that the application of these Fe oxides (2% wt/wt) in their study was not economical for field application, because the As immobilization ability of magnetite and hematite mixture was lower compared to granular Fe(III)-hydroxide and some other forms of Fe oxide minerals (Farrow et al., 2015). Irem et al. (2019) reported that accumulation of As in rice grain followed a linear trend in BR-1 rice genotype, whereas a parabolic relationship was observed in Bas-385. Arsenic concentration in the rice grain was reduced in both genotypes that exhibited a positive response with Fe sulfate amendments.

4.1.4. Manganese (Mn)

Remediation mechanisms for As in paddy soils can generally be divided into immobilization and removal that can be achieved by the application of certain amendments. Mn-based amendments could be an effective and cost-effective approach to transform As(III) species into less toxic and mobile As(V) and immobilize As in paddy soil (Xie et al., 2020) (Table 1). Manganese oxide is considered as an important component in soil that can oxidize the As(III) form due to its high reactivity (Fig. S1, Supplementary Information), poor crystal structure, and large surface area (Carrijo et al., 2018; Carrijo et al., 2019; Parikh et al., 2010). Therefore, despite the lack of direct experimental evidence, the Mn-dependent pathway could possibly be the key transformation process of As(III) oxidation in rice root-plaques. Komárek et al. (2013) reported that amorphous Mn oxides decreased As bioavailability to rice plants grown in paddy soils contaminated with different As contamination origins. Maximum adsorption capacity of amorphous Mn for As(V) was found to be at pH 7–8. The adsorption capacity was reduced at low pH (especially at pH 4) due to dissolution of amorphous Mn oxides (Kögel-Knabner et al., 2010; Komárek et al., 2013). At pH ranging from 4 to 7, poorly crystalline Mn oxide demonstrated the greatest ability to transform As speciation in solution. In the low pH range, oxidation of As is associated with reductive dissolution of Mn oxides, and as such As(V) precipitates and becomes insoluble on surface of the Mn oxides and/or dissolved Mn₂O colloidal particles. Application of Mn oxides can decrease dissolved As concentration in soil solution and rice tissue, because of their ability to oxidize As(III) to As(V) in paddy soil facilitating As adsorption on the Mn oxides surface (Bhattacharya et al., 2002; Martínez-Villegas and Martínez, 2008). Amorphous Mn oxides are primarily As stabilizers in soils with circa neutral to alkaline pH and under acidic pH As mobilization could be increased in soil solution phase (Amirnia et al., 2019; Frohne et al., 2011; Suda and Makino, 2016; Xu et al., 2017).

4.2. Organic amendments-arsenic interaction

4.2.1. Biochar

Biochar can (im)mobilize As in soils and sediments, although its impact on biogeochemical cycling of As in As-contaminated rice fields is not well understood (Javed et al., 2018). Biochar is considered to be low-cost adsorbent, that is carbonaceous and stable, and attained by the pyrolysis (>250 °C) of a variety of biowastes under little or no oxygen conditions (Amen et al., 2020; Sohi et al., 2010). Biochar has been reported to be an effective material for improving soil properties such as nutrient retention, contaminant immobilization, and carbon storage (Mohan et al., 2014) (Table 1). However, the majority of published studies have examined the effect of biochar on mobilization processes of As in soil under limited settings and with static pH, E_h, and soil moisture situations. Whereas, in paddy settings changes in soil E_h, pH, and mineral chemistry are dynamic. A few studies have examined the ability of biochars and some other materials (e.g., clay, alumina, bio-charcoal, perlite, shell limestone, organic fertilizer) to immobilize As in floodplain soils (Mohan et al., 2014; Wen et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). In addition, biochars are negatively charged and As in soil environment are oxyanions limiting adsorption capacity of biochar (Kumarathilaka et al., 2020a; Zama et al., 2018).

Given these specific challenges, when using biochar to immobilize soil As, impregnating biochar with Mn oxide to fix As in soil may be a better option since Mn oxides can limit the flow of As through anion exchange and convert As(III) into As(V) that is stable and less toxic (Yu et al., 2017b). Most of the studies showed that biochar can adsorb various organic and inorganic contaminants in soil and water, the kinetics of which mainly depends on specific properties of biomass used and pyrolysis temperature for biochar production (Niazi et al., 2017; Savage et al., 2018). Qiao et al. (2018) evaluated the influence of various modified biochars (i.e., FeSO₄, hydroxysulfate (biochar-FeOS), FeCl₃ (biochar-FeCl₃), zero-valence Fe (biochar-ZVFe)) on As immobilization in soil by determining NaHCO₃-extractable As pool and soil pH (Table 1). Mixing of soil with biochar-ZVFe, biochar-FeOS, and biochar-FeCl₃ significantly decreased the NaHCO3-extractable As pool in soil (13-30%, 10.9-28.3% and 17.9-35.1%, respectively), while there was no effect on soil pH. Treatment with biochar-FeOS, biochar-FeCl₃, and biochar-ZVFe reduced concentration of non-specifically adsorbed and specifically adsorbed As phases in soil and increased As content in Fe/Al poorly crystalline pools (Qiao et al., 2018; Wen et al., 2020). Under reduced conditions, microbial-mediated reduction of Fe(III) can lead to release of adsorbed As(V) into soil solution (Qiao et al., 2018). Future research is warranted to prepare functionalized biochars that will allow for effective immobilization for specific toxic elements, like As anions, in soil under paddy soil environments.

4.2.2. Other organic amendments

Agricultural biowaste materials, especially those containing cellulose have a great metal and metalloid sorption capacity (Mehmood et al., 2021). The basic components of biomass of agricultural wastes include hemicellulose, lignin, lipids, proteins, monosaccharides, hydrocarbons, and starch, which contain various functional groups. These functional groups contribute to binding of toxic elements, like As (Hossain et al., 2020; Nawab et al., 2018). A series of experiments were carried out using farmyard manure (FYM) to improve paddy soil for 10, 25 or 50 days of treatment. The 0.5 M NaHCO3 was used to extract available As from soil (Arao et al., 2009). Data showed that the NaHCO₃-extractable As pool increased after 25 days and it decreased after 50 days of incubation. Also, it was observed that the soils amended with high amounts of FYM had relatively higher bioavailable As, as well as more As concentration in rice compared to the soils receiving less amount of FYM. Methylated As species in rice were observed to increase in soils with the high FYM application. Recently, it has been suggested that methylated As forms can be linked to the soil under microbial action and may not be produced in plants (Hossain et al., 2020;

Wasserman et al., 2018). Hence, the increase in proportion of methylated organic As forms in cereals like rice under flooded situations can be attributed to the complex As biogeochemical processes prevailing in paddy soils (Ma et al., 2016).

Cow dung based manure can also stimulate activity of indigenous microorganisms which have a strong influence on As fate and transform As into soluble and volatile species through different pathways under submerged soil conditions (Huang et al., 2012). Cow dung derived FYM is considered to be eco-friendly and inexpensive soil amendment, and a source of nutrition (e.g., nitrogen, phosphorus, sulfur). It can attract bacteria, fungi, protozoa, worms, nematodes and arthropods, thus improving the natural As biogeochemical process (Banik et al., 2006) (Fig. 5) (further detailed discussion on As (im)mobilization processes by amendments is given in Text S1, Supplementary Information).

Microorganisms are the main cause of biochemical degradation process during vermicomposting while earthworms can enhance the activity and population of microorganisms (Kaur et al., 2010). Rahaman et al. (2011) demonstrated that the concentration of As in rice shoot decreased significantly after application of poultry manure, lathyrus, and vermicompost together into the As-contaminated paddy soil. Arsenic content varied between 0.70 and 1.67 mg kg⁻¹ DW in rice grain (Table S3, Supplementary Information) that was above the Food and Agriculture Organization/World Health Organization safe limit of As in rice grain (0.2 mg kg⁻¹ DW).

4.2.3. Advantages and disadvantages of the organic and inorganic amendments

Although Fe-based materials have ability to immobilize As in paddy soil conditions, the high synthesis cost, less eco-friendly nature of dissolved Fe at high concentration, widely unavailable and un-stability in reduced soil conditions with possible release of adsorbed As may be possible limitations of their field scale application (Mulligan et al., 2001). In addition, application of biochar in remediating Ascontaminated soils has been an emerging research topic over the past decade (Qiao et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2017b). Various organic amendments including biochar, cow dung, biogas slurry and farmyard manure have great potential to sequester As under varying environments as discussed in above section (Irem et al., 2019). Cow dung and farm yard manure are widely available, low-cost materials and may be applied to immobile As in paddy soil to reduce As accumulation, as well as supplement the nutrients for rice plants (Hussain et al., 2019a). However, their As remediation potential and economic feasibility have not been examined vet in paddy soil-rice system. Based on a rough estimate. organic amendments may be available at US $2-30 \text{ ton}^{-1}$ (Ojedokun and Bello, 2016). Also, lignite could have potential to immobilize paddy soil As, although it is not well understood (Mohan and Chander, 2006). Lignite is freely available and its estimated cost is US \$25 metric ton⁻¹ which is lower than the Fe-based amendments (US 25-300 ton⁻¹ material treated) (Table S4, Supplementary Information) (Mohan and Chander, 2006).

Notably, organic amendments could be more advantageous than Febased amendments since these: do not produce contaminated sludge residues, supply micro- and macro-nutrients for crop growth, improve soil physical, biological and chemical health, environmentally-friendly in nature, cheap and abundantly available.

5. Effect of mineral nutrition on arsenic availability and uptake by rice

Some strategies have been developed to reduce the translocation and uptake of As by rice plants under paddy soil conditions. Most of these strategies rely on changing the physical and chemical properties of the soil using various mineral elements. Similarly, the use of N, P, Se, Si, and other elements are reported to affect the accumulation and immobilization of As. This section discusses the effects of various nutrient-based modifiers to minimize the accumulation of As in rice plants (Fig. 5).

5.1. Phosphorus (P)

The dynamics of As in rice rhizosphere is controlled by state of plant phosphate (PO₄) concentration that regulates the formation of Fe plaque and absorption of As(V) via PO₄ transporters (Fig. 5). Previous studies have shown a competitive inhibitory effect between phosphate and As(V) in soil or inside the plants (Ahmad et al., 2020a; Amna et al., 2020). Due to similarity in chemical properties, Fe plaques may adsorb oxyanionic As species via the ligand exchange mechanism due to competition with phosphate, although the effect of As on plant metabolism is complicated (Bolan et al., 2013). The root to shoot As(V) transport occurs through different PO₄ transporter (PHT) proteins. The regulators of PO₄ transport i.e., OsPHF1 (PO₄ transporter traffic facilitator 1) and PHR2 (PO₄ starvation response 2) have been reported to affect As (V) uptake by rice plants (Awasthi et al., 2017a). Increased PO₄ concentration may impact the steady state As(V) uptake by rice or As(V) could moderately inhibit PO₄ translocation in rice plants (Anawar et al., 2018).

Irrigation of As-contaminated water can alter As and PO₄ balance in soil solution, resulting in PO₄ mobilization and loss due to leaching or high PO₄ utilization by rice plants (Anawar et al., 2018; Samal et al., 2020; Talukder et al., 2014). The development of aerobic/partial-aerobic conditions around the plant roots, due to high respiration rate and excretion of oxygen containing root exudates, oxidation of As(III) to As(V) could occur increasing As(V) competition with PO₄ in plants (Bakhat et al., 2017).

Phosphorus can decrease As concentration in rice shoot and grain by increasing displacement of As from root adsorption sites, thus leading to enhance As concentration in the rhizosphere (Ahmad et al., 2020a; Jain and Loeppert, 2000). It has been indicated that As uptake in rice grain was significantly enhanced from soils with initially sufficient P. Addition of P tends to decrease As accumulation in rice grains (Islam et al., 2019). Various studies have shown that applying P modifiers can increase the mobility of As in rhizosphere, thus increasing As uptake by plants (Talukder et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2014a). Like excessive use of P in some cases can desorb 80% of soil adsorbed As into the soil solution-phase (water soluble As pool) that can leach deeper into the soil profile depending on rainfall, and soil physical and chemical properties. Notably, the mobility and availability of P pool in soil can also control the formation of Fe plaque on rice plant roots (Farias et al., 2017).

There are indications that rice plants with enough P concentration have increased their ability to tolerate As which may be due to large biomass and reduced retention of As by rice plants (van Genuchten et al., 2012). Therefore, rice varieties that have improved the ability to extract P from soil can provide a means of reducing As uptake and minimizing the risks associated with P-induced migration and As absorption. Lee et al. (2016) suggested three important factors controlling As transport in soil and rice plants: (i) the competition between As and P for exchange sites; (ii) the antagonistic effect of PO₄; and (iii) the role of P in translocating As from root to shoot. The toxicity of As in plants depends on the As/P ratio in the soil, not the actual As concentration. In a survey report on Chinese rice fields it was found that changing the P content in shoot can reduce the accumulation of As in rice grains (Lu et al., 2010). In As-contaminated soils, the use of calcium forms Ca-P-As complex that leads to a decrease in As mobility (Neupane and Donahoe, 2013). A series of experiments were carried out using water management regimes and P application to minimize As translocation in different rice genotypes in Bangladesh. All the experiments indicated that application of P (optimum levels or 0, 12.5 and 25 mg kg⁻¹) reduced As content in grain, root, and shoot up to the permissible limits (Talukder et al., 2012; Talukder et al., 2014). Future research should be directed toward understanding cellular mechanisms controlling the relationship between As and P absorption and competition in rice plants in contrasting rice genotypes.

5.2. Silicon (Si)

Silicon supplementation of rice could help in reducing uptake and transfer of As to rice plant shoot and grain that is ascribed to silicic acid (Si) competition with As(III) species for absorption via similar (aquaporins) channels in rice plants (Fig. 5) (Ahmad et al., 2013). The similar geochemistry of both As(III) and Si can create competition for the adsorption sites in paddy soil on colloid surface, and with increasing Si application As concentration can also increase in soil solution (Limmer et al., 2018). Therefore, the complex interaction in soil (antagonism) and rice plants (synergism) between these two elements is important to understand in biogeochemical As cycling under the impact of Si fertilization. Silicon is absorbed by plants in the form of orthosilicate (H₄SiO₄) and its concentration in rice tissues is higher than some other crop plant species (Sun et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020). Due to the similarity between As(III) and H₄SiO₄, similar absorption pathways have been reported in plant roots (Suriyagoda et al., 2018). Arsenite is taken up in rice plants by two Si transport channels: (i) low Si-1 (Lsi1), that is known as a Si influx carrier located at the exterior part of exodermis and endodermis; and (ii) low Si-2 (Lsi2) that is a Si efflux transporter/carrier at the interior proximal side of exodermis and endodermis. It facilitates in discharge of Si ions into the xylem tissue of rice plants (Islam et al., 2019; Seyfferth et al., 2018).

In rice plants, Si inflow transporter Lsi1 (rice with low Si content 1; OsNIP2) is responsible for absorption of As(III), while Si outflow transporter Lsi2 (rice with low Si content 2) mediates outflow of As(III) (Chen et al., 2017). Therefore, the coordinated function of these two transporters can create effective flow of Si and As(III) through endodermis and toward xylem tissue. Ma et al. (2017) showed that Lsi2 plays more important role than Lsi1 in transporting As to rice grains, but switching off Lsi2 may also disrupt Si absorption that can inhibit rice growth and reduce grain yield by 60%. Song et al. (2014) observed that a C-type ATP-binding-cassette (ABC) transporter (OsABCC) family, OsABCC1 (i.e., a Si transporter in rice), was responsible for the reduction and detoxification of As in rice plants. Their findings supported that As translocation in rice grain can be reduced significantly by OsABCC1 transporter via As sequestration into vacuoles of phloem cells of rice.

Silicon supplementation under As stress can upregulate the vascular sequestration of As in rice plants and decrease metabolic damage to plant tissue. Various mechanisms are related to the use of Si in soil or Si as foliar dressing on leaf to reduce bioaccumulation of As from roots and transfer to rice shoot and grain (Begum et al., 2016). Such pathways can involve: (i) the antagonism between Si and As at the root absorption sites as As(III) divides Si transport pathway into rice root cells; (ii) Si can enhance the development of plaque on the surface rice roots, that is due to establishment of Fe-oxides-silicate complexes on the root surface, thus decreasing As uptake by roots and increasing tolerance; and (iii) Si also help in the upregulation and expression of those genes which are thought to be involved during absorption and transport of As in rice (Begum et al., 2016).

Arsenic concentration in soil solution and plant tissue has been observed to be relatively lower in response to Si application in soils dominated by Fe(III) oxides, rather than Ca-bearing mineral phases (e.g., CaSO₄, CaCO₃). These data show that the Si-induced development of plaque at the rice root under flooded situations may be the main mechanism for reducing As accumulation in rice after introduction of Si into soil (Islam et al., 2019). This indicates that Si applied to low-Fe soils can only effectively minimize the accumulation of As in rice, if Si is used at a high dose (Li et al., 2017; Limmer et al., 2018; Seyfferth et al., 2018).

5.3. Sulfur (S)

Sulfur content in paddy soil shows a large spatial variability due to human activities such as SO_2 emission and SO_4 fertilizers application to soil. The behavior of S is closely related to E_h of the paddy soil that

controls the valence state of S varying from -2 to +6, and the oxidation of organic sulfur compounds (Norton et al., 2017). High concentration of Fe(III) and SO₄ in paddy soils and with activity of SO₄-reducing bacteria, sulfide (S²⁻) and Fe(II) are produced which reacts to form nanoparticles of FeS (e.g., mackinawite) (Niazi and Burton, 2016). Microorganisms can trigger the oxidation of elemental sulfur (S) to SO₄, thereby limiting the reduction of MnO₂ or Fe(OH)₃ in anaerobic paddy fields (Herath et al., 2018).

Sulfur is also a component of thiol-rich compounds such as phytochelatin (PC), which can produce stable complexes that later on can decrease the bioavailability and toxicity of As in rice tissues (Hussain et al., 2019b). The negative correlation between PC concentration and As in cereals confirms that PC may have a possible role in minimizing As movement from root-shoot- grain by making these stable complexes or increasing the drainage of roots from the external medium (Hussain et al., 2019b; Norton et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2011). Arsenic translocation from root to shoot can be reduced by these two mechanisms: (i) reduction of OsLsi1, OsLsi2 and S-induced expression in rice as an active transporter, and (ii) induced S-thiol synthesis thus increasing complexation of As (Dixit et al., 2016; Hashimoto and Kanke, 2018). Therefore, S-fertilizer application coupled with microbial SO_4 reduction can precipitate As either with FeS or as As(III)-S²⁻ stable precipitates. The previous bulk of research has demonstrated that the bacterial populations in rhizosphere region of rice roots might have the key role to biologically transform SO₄ to S²⁻ form that can stabilize As as As(III)-S like phases, as well as via binding on the surface of Fe(II) sulfide minerals (e.g., mackinawite (FeS), As₂S₃) (Dixit et al., 2016; Fisher et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2018a).

The above discussion suggests that some long-term field trials are needed to determine the possible role and merits of using S-containing fertilizers for improvement in rice growth and limiting the transfer of As to rice grain in contrasting paddy soils. Therefore, a thorough and fundamental understanding is required on the type, stability and formation of As(III)-S^{2–} or FeS-As like phases under flooded soil environments.

5.4. Nitrogen (N)

The major nutrient, N, is essential for biosynthesis of different biomolecules (e.g., nucleic acids, chlorophyll, proteins, plant hormones), and its availability in soil also assists in regulating the growth of rice plants in paddy fields (Suriyagoda et al., 2018). In the soil, there are two most important N forms available: i.e., nitrate-N (NO₃-N), which is present under aerobic conditions and ammonium-N (NH₄-N), that is prevalent in flooded (paddy) soils (Ma et al., 2020b). In flooded rice fields, the main form of N is NH₄-N, while NO₃-N content is found to be $<10 \mu$ M. Rice plants can utilize both forms of NH₄ and NO₃ as a N source (Fan et al., 2009). Nitrate is a strong oxidant, therefore, the addition of NO₃ may decrease aqueous concentration of Fe(II) by oxidizing Fe(II) to Fe(III) in soil solution, and as such reducing the formation of Fe plaques in vicinity of rice roots (rhizosphere) (Carrijo et al., 2018; Saleque et al., 2004). However, increasing concentration of NH₄ can enhance reduction of Fe(III) to Fe(II) that facilitates diffusion of Fe(II) into the rhizosphere zone and development of Fe plaques on the root surface, thus decreasing As accumulation by rice plant. In addition, NH₄ in the rhizosphere can decrease pH, while NO₃ has an opposite effect (Srivastava et al., 2019). The effect of N supply on the response of rice seedlings to As stress (25 µM) was monitored for 7 days. It was observed that, compared to the 7-day treatment alone, low N + As led to improvement in root length of lateral and adventitious roots as well as their root density in significantly, while the average length of high nitrogen (HN) + As continued to decrease. Treatment with low nitrogen (LN) + As caused a significant decrease in root As concentration (0.848 mg kg⁻¹ DW), while with As alone treatment root As content (1.434 mg kg⁻¹ DW) did not decrease significantly. In contrast, the shoot As content (0.0068 mg kg⁻¹ DW) treated with HN + As increased

significantly compared to As alone (0.0034 μ g g⁻¹ DW) (Srivastava et al., 2019). Therefore, fertilizing plants with N source can play an important role in the migration of As in soil rhizosphere and its absorption in rice plants. Under As stress, the influence of N supplementation to rice plants remains relatively unexplored, and further experimentation is needed.

6. Conclusions and future outlook

This review covered a broad spectrum of factors and processes playing key role in As biogeochemical cycling and uptake by rice in paddy soils under flooded conditions. Many factors affect As bioavailability and translocation in rice shoot and grain. Arsenic enters the rice plants via phosphate transport proteins as As(V) and through aquaporins (Si) channels as As(III). The oxidative stress due to reactive oxygen species (ROS) production after exposure to As in rice plants can be counteracted by the production and complexation with compounds rich in thiol such as glutathione and PC. Although thiol complexation leads to the sequestration of As in vacuoles within root cells, while depending on the genotype and soil conditions a considerable amount of As can be transported in rice tissues.

Use of optimal amount of nutrients can effectively decrease As translocation to rice grain and shoot. Under neutral to acidic soil conditions, Fe can immobilize and sequester As in more efficient way, while in alkaline to neutral conditions Mn has a greater impact in immobilizing As. The above discussion indicates that use of organic amendments might be preferable over Fe-based materials because of their ability to supply nutrients for rice crop growth, improve soil physical, biological and chemical health, eco-friendly nature, cost-effectiveness, and abundant availability.

High application of P fertilizers may increase As uptake by rice grain due to the fact that phosphate supplementation could increase competition for soil minerals adsorption sites between As(V) and phosphate. Arsenic and Fe plaques are promoted by the application of S on the root surface that may decrease the As uptake through formation of FeS nanoparticles or As(III)-sulfide stable precipitates. Importantly, it is imperative to differentiate the effect of natural processes and anthropogenic activities on the release of As, and their impacts on accumulation in rice growing in and surrounding these areas. The following aspects should be considered in future work:

- Genotypic differences in rice are crucial to determine against As tolerance and accumulation by rice plants. Thus, fundamental knowledge on effect of phosphate, Si and Se as amendment to reduce As uptake by rice in contrasting rice varieties, i.e., coarse and fine varieties.
- Since, As concentrations in pore water and rice plant rhizosphere may change with rice varieties under the influence of various organic and inorganic materials, and phosphate, Fe-based, biochar, nano-gypsum and Si(OH)₄ generalizations should not be made.
- The role of magnetic biochar, nano-biochar and biomaterials needs to be explored in paddy soils along with the effect on As uptake and nutritional status of plants.
- It is important to quantify As losses and role of microbial processes in biomethylation and volatilization of As species and its possible effect on micro-fauna and flora.
- Arsenic contaminated coupled climate change stresses must be evaluated using various climate change attributes in laboratory scale experiments and field trials. This will allow us to identify potential rice varieties for implementation in food security, climate change, and environmental contamination remediation mitigation programs.
- In addition, extreme weather events can change the dynamics of As in paddy fields. The environmental conditions must be examined to understand the As mobility and release under paddy environments.
- By providing the nutrients needed for the growth of microorganisms, biostimulation can reduce As toxicity in the rice field environment due to the improvement of microorganism-mediated processes

including As immobilization as As(III)-sulfide stable phases, As(III) oxidation, biomethylation and volatilization.

• The use of unexplored organic modifiers such as vermicompost, biosorbents on agricultural paddy soils, and how they can improve the physical, chemical and biological fertility of the soil. Root exudates affect the structure and function of microbial combinations, and then mediate various biochemical transformations of As in the root zone, including redox reactions and chemical forms.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful to Higher Education Commission (Project Nos. 6425/Punjab/NRPU/R&D/HEC/2016 and 6396/Punjab/NRPU/R&D/HEC/2016), Pakistan for providing financial support. Drs Nabeel Khan Niazi and Irshad Bibi are thankful to the University of Agriculture Faisa-labad. Dr. Irshad Bibi acknowledges the support form COMSTEQ-TWAS research grant 2018 (18-268 RG/EAS/AS_C). Dr. Nabeel Niazi is thankful to University of Southern Queensland, Australia. This study was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) (Germany-Korea Partnership Program (GEnKO Program) 2018–2020) (Prof. Yong Sik Ok, Contribution: 100%). The authors are thankful to the Associate Editor for valuable help in revising the paper.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145040.

References

- Abbas, G., Murtaza, B., Bibi, I., Shahid, M., Niazi, N.K., Khan, M.I., Amjad, M., Hussain, M., 2018. Arsenic uptake, toxicity, detoxification, and speciation in plants: physiological, biochemical, and molecular aspects. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15, 59.
- Abedin, M.J., Cotter-Howells, J., Meharg, A.A., 2002a. Arsenic uptake and accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.) irrigated with contaminated water. Plant Soil 240, 311–319.
- Abedin, M.J., Cresser, M.S., Meharg, A.A., Feldmann, J., Cotter-Howells, J., 2002b. Arsenic accumulation and metabolism in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Environ. Sci. Technol. 36, 962–968.
- Ahmad, A., Afzal, M., Ahmad, A., Tahir, M., 2013. Effect of foliar application of silicon on yield and quality of rice (Oryza Sativa L). Cercetari Agronomice in Moldova 46, 21–28.
- Ahmad, A., Rutten, S., Eikelboom, M., de Waal, L., Bruning, H., Bhattacharya, P., van der Wal, A., 2020a. Impact of phosphate, silicate and natural organic matter on the size of Fe (III) precipitates and arsenate co-precipitation efficiency in calcium containing water. Sep. Purif. Technol. 235, 116117.
- Ahmad, A., van der Wens, P., Baken, K., de Waal, L., Bhattacharya, P., Stuyfzand, P., 2020b. Arsenic reduction to< 1 µg/L in Dutch drinking water. Environ. Int. 134, 105253.
- Ajiboye, B., Akinremi, O., Racz, G., 2004. Laboratory characterization of phosphorus in fresh and oven-dried organic amendments. J. Environ. Qual. 33, 1062–1069.
- Alam, R., McPhedran, K., 2019. Applications of biological sulfate reduction for remediation of arsenic–a review. Chemosphere 222, 932–944.
- Amen, R., Bashir, H., Bibi, I., Shaheen, S.M., Khan Niazi, N., Shahid, M., Mahroz Hussain, M., Antoniadis, V., Bilal Shakoor, M., Al-Solaimani, S.G., Wang, H., Bundschuh, J., Rinklebe, J., 2020. A critical review on arsenic removal from water using biochar-based sorbents: the significance of modification and redox reactions. Chem. Eng. J. 125–195.
- Amirnia, S., Asaeda, T., Takeuchi, C., Kaneko, Y., 2019. Manganese-mediated immobilization of arsenic by calcifying macro-algae, Chara braunii. Sci. Total Environ. 646, 661–669.
- Amna, S., Qamar, S., AAT, Naqvi, Al-Huqail, A.A., Qureshi, M.I., 2020. Role of sulfur in combating arsenic stress through upregulation of important proteins, and in-silico analysis to study the interaction between phosphate transporter (PHO1), arsenic and phosphate in spinach. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 157, 348–358.
- Anawar, H.M., Rengel, Z., Damon, P., Tibbett, M., 2018. Arsenic-phosphorus interactions in the soil-plant-microbe system: dynamics of uptake, suppression and toxicity to plants. Environ. Pollut. 233, 1003–1012.
- Arao, T., Kawasaki, A., Baba, K., Mori, S., Matsumoto, S., 2009. Effects of water management on cadmium and arsenic accumulation and Dimethylarsinic acid concentrations in Japanese Rice. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 9361–9367.

- Awasthi, S., Chauhan, R., Srivastava, S., Tripathi, R.D., 2017a. The journey of arsenic from soil to grain in Rice. Front. Plant Sci. 8.
- Awasthi, S., Chauhan, R., Srivastava, S., Tripathi, R.D., 2017b. The journey of arsenic from soil to grain in Rice. Front. Plant Sci. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01007.
- Awasthi, S., Chauhan, R., Dwivedi, S., Srivastava, S., Srivastava, S., Tripathi, R.D., 2018. A consortium of alga (Chlorella vulgaris) and bacterium (Pseudomonas putida) for amelioration of arsenic toxicity in rice: a promising and feasible approach. Environ. Exp. Bot. 150, 115–126.
- Bakhat, H.F., Zia, Z., Fahad, S., Abbas, S., Hammad, H.M., Shahzad, A.N., Abbas, F., Alharby, H., Shahid, M., 2017. Arsenic uptake, accumulation and toxicity in rice plants: possible remedies for its detoxification: a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 9142–9158.
- Bakshi, S., Banik, C., Rathke, S.J., Laird, D.A., 2018. Arsenic sorption on zero-valent ironbiochar complexes. Water Res. 137, 153–163.
- Banik, P., Ghosal, P.K., Sasmal, T.K., Bhattacharya, S., Sarkar, B.K., Bagchi, D.K., 2006. Effect of organic and inorganic nutrients for soil quality conservation and yield of Rainfed low land Rice in sub-tropical plateau region. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 192, 331–343.
- Batista, B.L., Barião, C.V., Souza, J.M.O., Paulelli, A.C.C., Rocha, B.A., ARMd, Oliveira, Segura, F.R., Braga, G.U.L., Tonani, L., MRv, Zeska-Kress, Barbosa, F., 2016. A low-cost and environmentally-friendly potential procedure for inorganic-as remediation based on the use of fungi isolated from rice rhizosphere. Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 4, 891–898.
- Bauer, M., Blodau, C., 2006. Mobilization of arsenic by dissolved organic matter from iron oxides, soils and sediments. Sci. Total Environ. 354, 179–190.
- Begum, M.C., Islam, M.S., Islam, M., Amin, R., Parvez, M.S., Kabir, A.H., 2016. Biochemical and molecular responses underlying differential arsenic tolerance in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Plant Physiol. Biochem. 104, 266–277.
- Bentley, R., Chasteen, T.G., 2002. Microbial methylation of metalloids: arsenic, antimony, and bismuth. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 66, 250–271.
- Bhattacharya, P., Bundschuh, J., 2015. Groundwater for sustainable development: cross cutting the UN sustainable development goals. Groundw. Sustain. Dev. 1, 155–157.
- Bhattacharya, P., Frisbie, S., Smith, E., Naidu, R., Jacks, G., Sarkar, B., 2002. Arsenic in the environment: A global perspective. Handbook of Heavy Metals in the Environment. Marcell Dekker Inc., New York, pp. 147–215.
- Bhattacharya, P., Welch, A.H., Stollenwerk, K.G., MJ, McLaughlin, Bundschuh, J., Panaullah, G., 2007. Arsenic in the Environment: Biology and Chemistry. Elsevier, pp. 109–120.
- Bhattacharya, P., Samal, A.C., Majumdar, J., Banerjee, S., Santra, S.C., 2013. In vitro assessment on the impact of soil arsenic in the eight rice varieties of West Bengal, India. J. Hazard. Mater. 262, 1091–1097.
- Bhowmick, S., Pramanik, S., Singh, P., Mondal, P., Chatterjee, D., Nriagu, J., 2018. Arsenic in groundwater of West Bengal, India: a review of human health risks and assessment of possible intervention options. Sci. Total Environ. 612, 148–169.
- Bolan, N., Mahimairaja, S., Kunhikrishnan, A., Choppala, G., 2013. Phosphorus-arsenic interactions in variable-charge soils in relation to arsenic mobility and bioavailability. Sci. Total Environ. 463, 1154–1162.
- Brammer, H., 2009. Mitigation of arsenic contamination in irrigated paddy soils in south and south-East Asia. Environ. Int. 35, 856–863.
- von Brömssen, M., Jakariya, M., Bhattacharya, P., Ahmed, K.M., Hasan, M.A., Sracek, O., Jonsson, L., Lundell, L., Jacks, G., 2007. Targeting low-arsenic aquifers in Matlab Upazila, southeastern Bangladesh. Sci. Total Environ. 379, 121–132.
- Bundschuh, J., Maity, J.P., 2015. Geothermal arsenic: occurrence, mobility and environmental implications. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 42, 1214–1222.
- Burton, E.D., Bush, R.T., Johnston, S.G., Watling, K.M., Hocking, R.K., Sullivan, L.A., Parker, G.K., 2009. Sorption of arsenic (V) and arsenic (III) to schwertmannite. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 9202–9207.
- Cao, M., He, S., Islam, E., Hong, C., Wang, W., Yao, Y., Chen, X., Zhu, F., 2020. As-Hg compound pollution: Rice growth, yield, and environmental safety limits. Sustainability 12, 2868.
- Carrijo, D.R., Akbar, N., Reis, A.F.B., Li, C., Gaudin, A.C.M., Parikh, S.J., Green, P.G., Linquist, B.A., 2018. Impacts of variable soil drying in alternate wetting and drying rice systems on yields, grain arsenic concentration and soil moisture dynamics. Field Crop Res. 222, 101–110.
- Carrijo, D.R., Li, C., Parikh, S.J., Linquist, B.A., 2019. Irrigation management for arsenic mitigation in rice grain: timing and severity of a single soil drying. Sci. Total Environ. 649, 300–307.
- Chandrashekhar, A., Chandrasekharam, D., Farooq, S., 2016. Contamination and mobilization of arsenic in the soil and groundwater and its influence on the irrigated crops, Manipur Valley, India. Environ. Earth Sci. 75, 142.
- Chen, J., Sun, G.-X., Wang, X.-X., Vcd, Lorenzo, Rosen, B.P., Zhu, Y.-G., 2014a. Volatilization of arsenic from polluted soil by Pseudomonas putida engineered for expression of the arsM arsenic (III) S-adenosine methyltransferase gene. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 10337–10344.
- Chen, M.-L., Ma, L.-Y., Chen, X.-W., 2014b. New procedures for arsenic speciation: a review. Talanta 125, 78–86.
- Chen, Y., Han, Y.-H., Cao, Y., Zhu, Y.-G., Rathinasabapathi, B., Ma, L.Q., 2017. Arsenic transport in rice and biological solutions to reduce arsenic risk from rice. Front. Plant Sci. 8, 268.
- Chen, Y., Xu, J., Lv, Z., xie, R., Huang, L., Jiang, J., 2018. Impacts of biochar and oyster shells waste on the immobilization of arsenic in highly contaminated soils. J. Environ. Manag. 217, 646–653.
- Chen, Z., Wang, Y., Xia, D., Jiang, X., Fu, D., Shen, L., Wang, H., Li, Q.B., 2016. Enhanced bioreduction of iron and arsenic in sediment by biochar amendment influencing microbial community composition and dissolved organic matter content and composition. J. Hazard. Mater. 311, 20–29.
- Codex Alimentarius Commission, 2016. Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme, Organization WH. Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme (Codex Alimentarius Commission) 39th Session Rome, Italy, 27 June–1 July 2016 and Report of the 10th

Session of the Codex Committee on Contaminants in Foods, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, 4–8 April 2016.

- Cui, J.-L., Zhao, Y.-P., Li, J.-S., Beiyuan, J.-Z., Tsang, D.C.W., Poon, C.-S., Chan, T.-S., Wang, W.-X., Li, X.-D., 2018. Speciation, mobilization, and bioaccessibility of arsenic in geogenic soil profile from Hong Kong. Environ. Pollut. 232, 375–384.
- Cullen, W.R., 2014. Chemical mechanism of arsenic biomethylation. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 27, 457–461.
- Dawe, D., Dobermann, A., Ladha, J., Yadav, R., Bao, L., Gupta, R., Lal, P., Panaullah, G., Sariam, O., Singh, Y., 2003. Do organic amendments improve yield trends and profitability in intensive rice systems? Field Crop Res. 83, 191–213.
- Di, X., Beesley, L., Zhang, Z., Zhi, S., Jia, Y., Ding, Y., 2019. Microbial arsenic methylation in soil and uptake and metabolism of methylated arsenic in plants: a review. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16, 5012.
- Dittmar, J., Voegelin, A., Roberts, L.C., Hug, S.J., Saha, G.C., Ali, M.A., Badruzzaman, A.B.M., Kretzschmar, R., 2007. Spatial distribution and temporal variability of arsenic in irrigated rice fields in Bangladesh. 2. Paddy soil. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 5967–5972.
- Dixit, G., Singh, A.P., Kumar, A., Mishra, S., Dwivedi, S., Kumar, S., Trivedi, P.K., Pandey, V., Tripathi, R.D., 2016. Reduced arsenic accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.) shoot involves sulfur mediated improved thiol metabolism, antioxidant system and altered arsenic transporters. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 99, 86–96.
- Drewniak, L., Skłodowska, A., 2013. Arsenic-transforming microbes and their role in biomining processes. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20, 7728–7739.
- Eiche, E., Berg, M., Hönig, S.-M., Neumann, T., Lan, V.M., Pham, T.K.T., Pham, H.V., 2017. Origin and availability of organic matter leading to arsenic mobilisation in aquifers of the red River Delta, Vietnam. Appl. Geochem. 77, 184–193.
- Fan, M., Lu, S., Jiang, R., Liu, X., Zhang, F., 2009. Triangular transplanting pattern and split nitrogen fertilizer application increase rice yield and nitrogen fertilizer recovery. Agron. J. 101, 1421–1425.
- Farias, J.G., Bernardy, K., Schwalbert, R., Del Frari, B.K., Meharg, A., Carey, M., Marques, A.C., Signes-Pastor, A., Sausen, D., Schorr, M.R., 2017. Effect of phosphorus on arsenic uptake and metabolism in rice cultivars differing in phosphorus use efficiency and response. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 89, 163–174.
- Farrow, E.M., Wang, J., Burken, J.G., Shi, H., Yan, W., Yang, J., Hua, B., Deng, B., 2015. Reducing arsenic accumulation in rice grain through iron oxide amendment. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 118, 55–61.
- Fendorf, S., Nico, P.S., Kocar, B.D., Masue, Y., Tufano, K.J., 2010. Arsenic chemistry in soils and sediments. Developments in Soil Science. vol. 34. Elsevier, pp. 357–378.
- Fernandez-Martinez, A., Cuello, G.J., Johnson, M.R., Bardelli, F., Roman-Ross, G., Charlet, L., Turrillas, X., 2008. Arsenate incorporation in gypsum probed by neutron, X-ray scattering and density functional theory modeling. J. Phys. Chem. A 112, 5159–5166.
- Fisher, J.C., Wallschläger, D., Planer-Friedrich, B., Hollibaugh, J.T., 2007. A new role for sulfur in arsenic cycling. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 81–85.
- Francesconi, K.A., Kuehnelt, D., 2001. Arsenic compounds in the environment. Environmental Chemistry of Arsenic. CRC Press, pp. 71–114.
- Frohne, T., Rinklebe, J., Diaz-Bone, R.A., Du Laing, G., 2011. Controlled variation of redox conditions in a floodplain soil: impact on metal mobilization and biomethylation of arsenic and antimony. Geoderma 160, 414–424.
- Fu, Y., Chen, M., Bi, X., He, Y., Ren, L., Xiang, W., Qiao, S., Yan, S., Li, Z., Ma, Z., 2011. Occurrence of arsenic in brown rice and its relationship to soil properties from Hainan Island, China. Environ. Pollut. 159, 1757–1762.
- Gadd, G.M., 2010. Metals, minerals and microbes: geomicrobiology and bioremediation. Microbiology 156, 609–643.
- Garnier, J.-M., Travassac, F., Lenoble, V., Rose, J., Zheng, Y., Hossain, M., Chowdhury, S., Biswas, A., Ahmed, K., Cheng, Z., 2010. Temporal variations in arsenic uptake by rice plants in Bangladesh: the role of iron plaque in paddy fields irrigated with groundwater. Sci. Total Environ. 408, 4185–4193.
- van Genuchten, C.M., Addy, S.E., Peña, J., Gadgil, A.J., 2012. Removing arsenic from synthetic groundwater with iron electrocoagulation: an Fe and as K-edge EXAFS study. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 986–994.
- Grob, M., Wilcke, W., Mestrot, A., 2018. Release and biomethylation of antimony in shooting range soils upon flooding. Soil Systems, 34 https://doi.org/10.3390/ soilsystems2020034.
- Guo, H., Wen, D., Liu, Z., Jia, Y., Guo, Q., 2014. A review of high arsenic groundwater in mainland and Taiwan, China: distribution, characteristics and geochemical processes. Appl. Geochem. 41, 196–217.
- Gustave, W., Yuan, Z.-F., Sekar, R., Ren, Y.-X., Liu, J.-Y., Zhang, J., Chen, Z., 2019. Soil organic matter amount determines the behavior of iron and arsenic in paddy soil with microbial fuel cells. Chemosphere 237, 124459.
- Halder, D., Bhowmick, S., Biswas, A., Mandal, U., Nriagu, J., Guha Mazumdar, D.N., Chatterjee, D., Bhattacharya, P., 2012. Consumption of brown rice: a potential pathway for arsenic exposure in rural Bengal. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 4142–4148.
- Halder, D., Bhowmick, S., Biswas, A., Chatterjee, D., Nriagu, J., Guha Mazumder, D.N., Šlejkovec, Z., Jacks, G., Bhattacharya, P., 2013. Risk of arsenic exposure from drinking water and dietary components: implications for risk management in rural Bengal. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 1120–1127.
- Hashimoto, Y., Kanke, Y., 2018. Redox changes in speciation and solubility of arsenic in paddy soils as affected by sulfur concentrations. Environ. Pollut. 238, 617–623.
- Hashmi, M.Z., Kanwal, A., Pongpiachan, S., Su, X., Nasim, W., Saand, M.A., Mubeen, M., Akram, R., Wang, S., Ahmed, Z., 2020. Arsenic distribution and metabolism genes abundance in Paddy soils from Punjab and Sindh provinces, Pakistan. Arab. J. Geosci. 13, 1–10.
- Herath, I., Vithanage, M., Bundschuh, J., Maity, J.P., Bhattacharya, P., 2016. Natural arsenic in global groundwaters: distribution and geochemical triggers for mobilization. Current Pollution Reports 2, 68–89.

- Herath, I., Vithanage, M., Seneweera, S., Bundschuh, J., 2018. Thiolated arsenic in natural systems: what is current, what is new and what needs to be known. Environ. Int. 115, 370–386.
- Herath, I., Zhao, F.-J., Bundschuh, J., Wang, P., Wang, J., Ok, Y.S., Palansooriya, K.N., Vithanage, M., 2020. Microbe mediated immobilization of arsenic in the rice rhizosphere after incorporation of silica impregnated biochar composites. J. Hazard. Mater. 123096.
- Hossain, M., Bhattacharya, P., Frape, S.K., Jacks, G., Islam, M.M., Rahman, M.M., von Brömssen, M., Hasan, M.A., Ahmed, K.M., 2014. Sediment color tool for targeting arsenic-safe aquifers for the installation of shallow drinking water tubewells. Sci. Total Environ. 493, 615–625.
- Hossain, M., Mestrot, A., Norton, G., Deacon, C., Islam, M., Meharg, A., 2020. Arsenic dynamics in paddy soil under traditional manuring practices in Bangladesh. Environ. Pollut. 268, 115821.
- Hu, L., Nie, Z., Wang, W., Zhang, D., Long, Y., Fang, C., 2020. Arsenic transformation behavior mediated by arsenic functional genes in landfills. J. Hazard. Mater. 123687, 403.
- Hu, M., Sun, W., Krumins, V., Li, F., 2019. Arsenic contamination influences microbial community structure and putative arsenic metabolism gene abundance in iron plaque on paddy rice root. Sci. Total Environ. 649, 405–412.
- Hu, P., Huang, J., Ouyang, Y., Wu, L., Song, J., Wang, S., Li, Z., Han, C., Zhou, L., Huang, Y., Luo, Y., Christie, P., 2013. Water management affects arsenic and cadmium accumulation in different rice cultivars. Environ. Geochem. Health 35, 767–778.
- Huang, H., Jia, Y., Sun, G.-X., Zhu, Y.-G., 2012. Arsenic speciation and volatilization from flooded Paddy soils amended with different organic matters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 2163–2168.

Huang, J.-H., 2014. Impact of microorganisms on arsenic biogeochemistry: a review. Water Air Soil Pollut. 225, 1848.

- Hussain, M.M., Bibi, I., Niazi, N.K., Shahid, M., Nawaz, M.F., Bashir, S., 2019a. Rinklebe J. Unveiling the Biogeochemical Cycling and Uptake of Arsenic in Paddy Soil Rice System, under the Influence of Inorganic and Organic Materials. Goldschmidt, Barcelona.
- Hussain, M.M., Bibi, I., Shahid, M., Shaheen, S.M., Shakoor, M.B., Bashir, S., Younas, F., Rinklebe, J., Niazi, N.K., 2019b. Chapter two - biogeochemical cycling, speciation and transformation pathways of arsenic in aquatic environments with the emphasis on algae. In: Duarte, A.C., Reis, V. (Eds.), Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry. 85. Elsevier, pp. 15–51.
- Hussain, M.M., Bibi, I., Niazi, N.K., Shahid, M., Nawaz, M.F., Bashir, S., Aslam, Z., 2020a. Arsenic accumulation by the two rice genotypes under the impact of organic and inorganic amendments. In: Zahir Shah, D.M., Iqbal, Muhammad, khattak, Jamal Khan (Eds.), 18th International Congress of Soil Science Sindh Agriculture University, Tando Jam. Sindh, Pakistan.
- Hussain, M.M., Wang, J., Bibi, I., Shahid, M., Niazi, N.K., Iqbal, J., Mian, I.A., Shaheen, S.M., Bashir, S., Shah, N.S., 2020b. Arsenic speciation and biotransformation pathways in the aquatic ecosystem: The significance of algae. J. Hazard. Mater. 403, 124027.
- Irem, S., Islam, E., Maathuis, F.J.M., Niazi, N.K., Li, T., 2019. Assessment of potential dietary toxicity and arsenic accumulation in two contrasting rice genotypes: effect of soil amendments. Chemosphere 225, 104–114.
- Irshad, M.K., Noman, A., Alhaithloul, H.A.S., Adeel, M., Rui, Y., Shah, T., Zhu, S., Shang, J., 2020. Goethite-modified biochar ameliorates the growth of rice (Oryza sativa L) plants by suppressing cd and as-induced oxidative stress in cd and as cocontaminated paddy soil. Sci. Total Environ. 717, 137086.
- Islam, M., Brammer, H., Rahman, G.M., Raab, A., Jahiruddin, M., Solaiman, A., Meharg, A.A., Norton, G.J., 2012. Arsenic in rice grown in low-arsenic environments in Bangladesh. Water quality. Exposure and Health 4, 197–208.
- Islam, S., Rahman, M.M., Islam, M.R., Naidu, R., 2017. Effect of irrigation and genotypes towards reduction in arsenic load in rice. Sci. Total Environ. 609, 311–318.
- Islam, S., Rahman, M.M., Naidu, R., 2019. Impact of water and fertilizer management on arsenic bioaccumulation and speciation in rice plants grown under greenhouse conditions. Chemosphere 214, 606–613.
- Jain, A., Loeppert, R.H., 2000. Effect of competing anions on the adsorption of arsenate and arsenite by ferrihydrite. J. Environ. Qual. 29, 1422–1430.
- Javed, M.B., Shaheen, S.M., Niazi, N.K., Bibi, I., Shahid, M., Javed, M.T., Hassan, N.E.E., Rinklebe, J., Mehmood, T., Lüttge, A., 2018. Biogeochemical behavior of arsenic in biochar-amended soils. In: Sarkar, B., Abhilash, P.C. (Eds.), Rakhshit A. Challenges and Perspectives. Taylor and Francis, NY, USA, Soil Amendments for Sustainability, pp. 87–109.
- Jia, Y., Huang, H., Zhong, M., Wang, F.-H., Zhang, L.-M., Zhu, Y.-G., 2013. Microbial arsenic methylation in soil and rice rhizosphere. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 3141–3148.

Johnston, S.G., Diwakar, J., Burton, E.D., 2015. Arsenic solid-phase speciation in an alluvial aquifer system adjacent to the Himalayan forehills, Nepal. Chem. Geol. 419, 55–66.

- Juang, K.-W., Chu, L.-J., Syu, C.-H., Chen, B.-C., 2020. Assessing human health risk of arsenic for rice consumption by an iron plaque based partition ratio model. Sci. Total Environ. 763. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142973 142973.
- Kabir, M., Salam, M., Paul, D., Hossain, M., Rahman, N., Aziz, A., Latif, M.A., 2016. Spatial variation of arsenic in soil, irrigation water, and plant parts: a microlevel study. Sci. World J. 2016.
- Kaur, A., Singh, J., Vig, A.P., Dhaliwal, S., Rup, P.J., 2010. Cocomposting with and without Eisenia fetida for conversion of toxic paper mill sludge to a soil conditioner. Bioresour. Technol. 101, 8192–8198.
- Khosravi, R., Zarei, M., Sracek, O., Bigalke, M., 2019. Geochemical and hydrological controls of arsenic concentrations across the sediment–water interface at Maharlu Lake, southern Iran. Appl. Geochem. 102, 88–101.
- Kim, H.S., Seo, B.-H., Kuppusamy, S., Lee, Y.B., Lee, J.-H., Yang, J.-E., Owens, G., Kim, K.-R., 2018. A DOC coagulant, gypsum treatment can simultaneously reduce as, cd and Pb uptake by medicinal plants grown in contaminated soil. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 148, 615–619.

- Science of the Total Environment 773 (2021) 145040
- Kögel-Knabner, I., Amelung, W., Cao, Z., Fiedler, S., Frenzel, P., Jahn, R., Kalbitz, K., Kölbl, A., Schloter, M., 2010. Biogeochemistry of paddy soils. Geoderma 157, 1–14.
- Komárek, M., Vaněk, A., Ettler, V., 2013. Chemical stabilization of metals and arsenic in contaminated soils using oxides-a review. Environ. Pollut. 172, 9–22.
- Kraemer, S.M., 2004. Iron oxide dissolution and solubility in the presence of siderophores. Aquat. Sci. 66, 3–18.
- Kumarathilaka, P., Seneweera, S., Meharg, A., Bundschuh, J., 2018. Arsenic speciation dynamics in paddy rice soil-water environment: sources, physico-chemical, and biological factors - a review. Water Res. 140, 403–414.
- Kumarathilaka, P., Bundschuh, J., Seneweera, S., Ok, Y.S., 2020a. An integrated approach of rice hull biochar-alternative water management as a promising tool to decrease inorganic arsenic levels and to sustain essential element contents in rice. J. Hazard. Mater. 124188.
- Kumarathilaka, P., Seneweera, S., Ok, Y.S., Meharg, A.A., Bundschuh, J., 2020b. Mitigation of arsenic accumulation in rice: An agronomical, physico-chemical, and biological approach – a critical review. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 31–71.
- Kuramata, M., Sakakibara, F., Kataoka, R., Abe, T., Asano, M., Baba, K., Takagi, K., Ishikawa, S., 2015. Arsenic biotransformation by S treptomyces sp. isolated from rice rhizosphere. Environ. Microbiol. 17, 1897–1909.
- Laborte, A.G., Gutierrez, M.A., Balanza, J.G., Saito, K., Zwart, S.J., Boschetti, M., Murty, M., Villano, L., Aunario, J.K., Reinke, R., 2017. RiceAtlas, a spatial database of global rice calendars and production. Scientific Data 170074, 4.
- Lee, C.-H., Wu, C.-H., Syu, C.-H., Jiang, P.-Y., Huang, C.-C., Lee, D.-Y., 2016. Effects of phosphorous application on arsenic toxicity to and uptake by rice seedlings in ascontaminated paddy soils. Geoderma 270, 60–67.
- Lehr, C.R., Polishchuk, E., Radoja, U., Cullen, W.R., 2003. Demethylation of methylarsenic species by Mycobacterium neoaurum. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 17, 831–834.
- Li, B., Xu, R., Sun, X., Han, F., Xiao, E., Chen, L., Qiu, L., Sun, W., 2020. Microbiomeenvironment interactions in antimony-contaminated rice paddies and the correlation of core microbiome with arsenic and antimony contamination. Chemosphere 128227, 263.
- Li, G., Zheng, M., Tang, J., Shim, H., Cai, C., 2017. Effects of silicon on arsenic concentration and speciation in different Rice tissues. Pedosphere 3, 511–520.
- Lian, F., Liu, X., Gao, M., Li, H., Qiu, W., Song, Z., 2020. Effects of Fe-Mn-Ce oxide-modified biochar on as accumulation, morphology, and quality of rice (Oryza sativa L.). Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 1–12.
- Limmer, M.A., Mann, J., Amaral, D.C., Vargas, R., Seyfferth, A.L., 2018. Silicon-rich amendments in rice paddies: effects on arsenic uptake and biogeochemistry. Sci. Total Environ. 624, 1360–1368.
- Lu, Y., Dong, F., Deacon, C., H-j, Chen, Raab, A., Meharg, A.A., 2010. Arsenic accumulation and phosphorus status in two rice (Oryza sativa L.) cultivars surveyed from fields in South China. Environ. Pollut. 158, 1536–1541.
- Ma, L., Wang, L., Jia, Y., Yang, Z., 2016. Arsenic speciation in locally grown rice grains from Hunan Province, China: spatial distribution and potential health risk. Sci. Total Environ. 557-558, 438–444.
- Ma, L., Wang, L., Jia, Y., Yang, Z., 2017. Accumulation, translocation and conversion of six arsenic species in rice plants grown near a mine impacted city. Chemosphere 183, 44–52.
- Ma, X., Sharifan, H., Dou, F., Sun, W., 2020a. Simultaneous reduction of arsenic (as) and cadmium (cd) accumulation in rice by zinc oxide nanoparticles. Chem. Eng. J. 384, 123802.
- Ma, X., Sun, K.Y., Dou, F., Li, X., Wang, X., Sun, W., 2020b. Impact of elevated nitrate and perchlorate in irrigation water on the uptake, speciation, and accumulation of arsenic in Rice (Oryza sativa L.). Water Air Soil Pollut. 231, 1–12.
- Mailloux, B.J., Alexandrova, E., Keimowitz, A.R., Wovkulich, K., Freyer, G.A., Herron, M., Stolz, J.F., Kenna, T.C., Pichler, T., Polizzotto, M.L., 2009. Microbial mineral weathering for nutrient acquisition releases arsenic. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 2558–2565.
- Maity, J.P., Chen, C.-Y., Bundschuh, J., Bhattacharya, P., Mukherjee, A., Chang, Y.-F., 2017. Hydrogeochemical reconnaissance of arsenic cycling and possible environmental risk in hydrothermal systems of Taiwan. Groundw. Sustain. Dev. 5, 1–13.
- Mar, K., Karnawati, D., Putra, D., Igarashi, T., Tabelin, C., 2013. Comparison of arsenic adsorption on lignite, bentonite, shale, and iron sand from Indonesia. Procedia Earth and Planetary Science 6, 242–250.
- Martínez-Villegas, N., Martínez, C.E., 2008. Solid-and solution-phase organics dictate copper distribution and speciation in multicomponent systems containing ferrihydrite, organic matter, and montmorillonite. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 2833–2838.
- Matsumoto, S., Kasuga, J., Taiki, N., Makino, T., Arao, T., 2015. Inhibition of arsenic accumulation in Japanese rice by the application of iron and silicate materials. Catena 135, 328–335.
- Matsumoto, S., Kasuga, J., Makino, T., Arao, T., 2016. Evaluation of the effects of application of iron materials on the accumulation and speciation of arsenic in rice grain grown on uncontaminated soil with relatively high levels of arsenic. Environ. Exp. Bot. 125, 42–51.
- Meharg, A.A., 2004. Arsenic in rice understanding a new disaster for South-East Asia. Trends Plant Sci. 9, 415–417.
- Meharg, A.A., Rahman, M.M., 2003. Arsenic contamination of Bangladesh Paddy field soils: implications for Rice contribution to arsenic consumption. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37, 229–234.
- Mehmood, T., Liu, C., Niazi, N.K., Gaurav, G.K., Ashraf, A., Bibi, I., 2021. Compost-mediated arsenic phytoremediation, health risk assessment and economic feasibility using Zea mays L. in contrasting textured soils. Int. J. Phytoremediation, 1–12 https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15226514.2020.1865267.
- Mestrot, A., Planer-Friedrich, B., Feldmann, J., 2013. Biovolatilisation: a poorly studied pathway of the arsenic biogeochemical cycle. Environ Sci Process Impacts 15, 1639–1651.

Mestrot, A., Ji, Y., Tandy, S., Wilcke, W., 2016. A novel method to determine trimethylantimony concentrations in plant tissue. Environ. Chem. 13, 919–926.

Mitra, A., Chatterjee, S., Moogouei, R., Gupta, D.K., 2017. Arsenic accumulation in Rice and probable mitigation approaches: a review. Agronomy 7, 67.

- Mohan, D., Chander, S., 2006. Removal and recovery of metal ions from acid mine drainage using lignite—a low cost sorbent. J. Hazard. Mater. 137, 1545–1553.
- Mohan, D., Sarswat, A., Ok, Y.S., Pittman Jr., C.U., 2014. Organic and inorganic contaminants removal from water with biochar, a renewable, low cost and sustainable adsorbent–a critical review. Bioresour. Technol. 160, 191–202.
- Mohapatra, D., Mishra, D., Chaudhury, G.R., Das, R.P., 2007. Arsenic adsorption mechanism on clay minerals and its dependence on temperature. Korean J. Chem. Eng. 24, 426–430.
- Mulligan, C., Yong, R., Gibbs, B., 2001. Remediation technologies for metal-contaminated soils and groundwater: an evaluation. Eng. Geol. 60, 193–207.
- Nafees, A.A., Kazi, A., Fatmi, Z., Irfan, M., Ali, A., Kayama, F., 2011. Lung function decrement with arsenic exposure to drinking groundwater along river Indus: a comparative cross-sectional study. Environ. Geochem. Health 33, 203–216.
- Nagar, R., Sarkar, D., Makris, K., Datta, R., 2013. Inorganic arsenic sorption by drinkingwater treatment residual-amended sandy soil: effect of soil solution chemistry. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 10, 1–10.
- Naidu, R., Bhattacharya, P., 2009. Arsenic in the environment—risks and management strategies. Environ. Geochem. Health 31, 1–8.
- Naidu, R., Smith, E., Owens, G., Bhattacharya, P., 2006. Managing Arsenic in the Environment: From Soil to Human Health. CSIRO publishing.
- Nakaya, S., Chi, H., Muroda, K., Masuda, H., 2018. Forms of trace arsenic, cesium, cadmium, and lead transported into river water for the irrigation of Japanese paddy rice fields. J. Hydrol. 561, 335–347.
- Natasha, Bibi I., Shahid, M., Niazi, N.K., Younas, F., Naqvi, S.R., Shaheen, S.M., Imran, M., Wang, H., Hussaini, K.M., Zhang, H., Rinklebe, J., 2021. Hydrogeochemical and health risk evaluation of arsenic in shallow and deep aquifers along the different floodplains of Punjab, Pakistan. J. Hazard. Mater. 124074, 402.
- Nath, S., Panda, P., Mishra, S., Dey, M., Choudhury, S., Sahoo, L., Panda, S.K., 2014. Arsenic stress in rice: redox consequences and regulation by iron. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 80, 203–210.

Nawab, J., Ghani, J., Khan, S., Xiaoping, W., 2018. Minimizing the risk to human health due to the ingestion of arsenic and toxic metals in vegetables by the application of biochar, farmyard manure and peat moss. J. Environ. Manag. 214, 172–183.

Neumann, R.B., Ashfaque, K.N., Badruzzaman, A., Ali, M.A., Shoemaker, J.K., Harvey, C.F., 2010. Anthropogenic influences on groundwater arsenic concentrations in Bangladesh. Nat. Geosci. 3, 46.

- Neumann, R.B., Pracht, L.E., Polizzotto, M.L., Badruzzaman, A.B.M., Ali, M.A., 2014. Sealing rice field boundaries in Bangladesh: a pilot study demonstrating reductions in water use, arsenic loading to field soils, and methane emissions from irrigation water. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 9632–9640.
- Neupane, G., Donahoe, R.J., 2013. Calcium–phosphate treatment of contaminated soil for arsenic immobilization. Appl. Geochem. 28, 145–154.
- Niazi, N.K., Burton, E.D., 2016. Arsenic sorption to nanoparticulate mackinawite (FeS): An examination of phosphate competition. Environ. Pollut. 218, 111–117.
- Niazi, N.K., Bibi, I., Shahid, M., Ok, Y.S., Shaheen, S.M., Rinklebe, J., Wang, H., Murtaza, B., Islam, E., Nawaz, M.F., 2017. Arsenic removal by Japanese oak wood biochar in aqueous solutions and well water: investigating arsenic fate using integrated spectroscopic and microscopic techniques. Sci. Total Environ. 621, 1642–1651.
- Norton, G.J., Shafaei, M., Travis, A.J., Deacon, C.M., Danku, J., Pond, D., Cochrane, N., Lockhart, K., Salt, D., Zhang, H., Dodd, I.C., Hossain, M., Islam, M.R., Price, A.H., 2017. Impact of alternate wetting and drying on rice physiology, grain production, and grain quality. Field Crop Res. 205, 1–13.
- Ojedokun, A.T., Bello, O.S., 2016. Sequestering heavy metals from wastewater using cow dung. Water Resources and Industry 13 (7–13).
- Oremland, R.S., Stolz, J.F., 2003. The ecology of arsenic. Science 300, 939-944.
- Ormachea Muñoz, M., Garcia Aróstegui, J.L., Bhattacharya, P., Sracek, O., Garcia Moreno, M.E., Kohfahl, C., Quintanilla Aguirre, J., Hornero Diaz, J., Bundschuh, J., 2016. Geochemistry of naturally occurring arsenic in groundwater and surface-water in the southern part of the Poopó Lake basin, Bolivian Altiplano. Groundw. Sustain. Dev. 2-3, 104–116.
- Parikh, S.J., Lafferty, B.J., Meade, T.G., Sparks, D.L., 2010. Evaluating environmental influences on AsIII oxidation kinetics by a poorly crystalline Mn-oxide. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 3772–3778.
- Park, J.H., Lamb, D., Paneerselvam, P., Choppala, G., Bolan, N., Chung, J.-W., 2011. Role of organic amendments on enhanced bioremediation of heavy metal (loid) contaminated soils. J. Hazard. Mater. 185, 549–574.
- Punshon, T., Jackson, B.P., Meharg, A.A., Warczack, T., Scheckel, K., Guerinot, M.L., 2017. Understanding arsenic dynamics in agronomic systems to predict and prevent uptake by crop plants. Sci. Total Environ. 581-582, 209–220.
- Punshon, T., Carey, A.-M., Ricachenevsky, F.K., Meharg, A.A., 2018. Elemental distribution in developing rice grains and the effect of flag-leaf arsenate exposure. Environ. Exp. Bot. 149, 51–58.
- Qayyum, M.F., ur Rehman, M.Z., Ali, S., Rizwan, M., Naeem, A., Maqsood, M.A., Khalid, H., Rinklebe, J., Ok, Y.S., 2017. Residual effects of monoammonium phosphate, gypsum and elemental sulfur on cadmium phytoavailability and translocation from soil to wheat in an effluent irrigated field. Chemosphere 174, 515–523.
- Qiao, J., Yu, H., Wang, X., Li, F., Wang, Q., Yuan, Y., Liu, C., 2019. The applicability of biochar and zero-valent iron for the mitigation of arsenic and cadmium contamination in an alkaline paddy soil. Biochar 1, 203–212.
- Qiao, J.-t., Liu, T.-x., Wang, X.-q., Li, F.-b., Lv, Y.-h., Cui, J.-h., Zeng, X.-d., Yuan, Y.-z., Liu, C.p., 2018. Simultaneous alleviation of cadmium and arsenic accumulation in rice by

applying zero-valent iron and biochar to contaminated paddy soils. Chemosphere 195, 260–271.

- Radloff, K.A., Zheng, Y., Stute, M., Weinman, B., Bostick, B., Mihajlov, I., Bounds, M., Rahman, M.M., Huq, M.R., Ahmed, K.M., 2017. Reversible adsorption and flushing of arsenic in a shallow, Holocene aquifer of Bangladesh. Appl. Geochem. 77, 142–157.
- Rahaman, S., Sinha, A.C., Mukhopadhyay, D., 2011. Effect of water regimes and organic matters on transport of arsenic in summer rice (Oryza sativa L.). J. Environ. Sci. 23, 633–639.
- Ravenscroft, P., Brammer, H., Richards, K., 2009. Arsenic pollution: a global synthesis. 28. John Wiley & Sons.
- Regmi, A.D., Yoshida, K., Dhital, M.R., Devkota, K., 2013. Effect of rock weathering, clay mineralogy, and geological structures in the formation of large landslide, a case study from Dumre Besei landslide, Lesser Himalaya Nepal. Landslides 10, 1–13.
- Rehman, F., 2007. Removal of heavy metals from electroplating wastewater by using lignite as adsorbent. Aligarh Muslim University.
- Rehman, Mzu, Khalid, H., Akmal, F., Ali, S., Rizwan, M., Qayyum, M.F., Iqbal, M., Khalid, M.U., Azhar, M., 2017. Effect of limestone, lignite and biochar applied alone and combined on cadmium uptake in wheat and rice under rotation in an effluent irrigated field. Environ. Pollut. 227, 560–568.
- Reid, M.C., Maillard, J., Bagnoud, A., Falquet, L., Le Vo, P., Bernier-Latmani, R., 2017. Arsenic methylation dynamics in a rice paddy soil anaerobic enrichment culture. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 10546–10554.
- Roberts, L.C., Hug, S.J., Ruettimann, T., Billah, M.M., Khan, A.W., Rahman, M.T., 2004. Arsenic removal with iron (II) and iron (III) in waters with high silicate and phosphate concentrations. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 307–315.
- Roy Chowdhury, N., Das, A., Joardar, M., De, A., Mridha, D., Das, R., Rahman, M.M., Roychowdhury, T., 2020. Flow of arsenic between rice grain and water: Its interaction, accumulation and distribution in different fractions of cooked rice. Sci. Total Environ. 731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138937 138937.
- Saleque, M.A., Abedin, M.J., Bhuiyan, N.I., Zaman, S.K., Panaullah, G.M., 2004. Long-term effects of inorganic and organic fertilizer sources on yield and nutrient accumulation of lowland rice. Field Crop Res. 86, 53–65.
- Samal, A.C., Bhattacharya, P., Biswas, P., Maity, J.P., Bundschuh, J., Santra, S.C., 2020. Variety-specific arsenic accumulation in 44 different rice cultivars (*O. sativa* L.) and human health risks due to co-exposure of arsenic-contaminated rice and drinking water. J. Hazard. Mater. 124804.
- Sandhi, A., Greger, M., Landberg, T., Jacks, G., Bhattacharya, P., 2017. Arsenic concentrations in local aromatic and high-yielding hybrid rice cultivars and the potential health risk: a study in an arsenic hotspot. Environ. Monit. Assess. 189, 184.
- Savage, L., Carey, M.P., Williams, P.N., Meharg, A.A., 2018. Biovolatilization of arsenic as arsines from seawater. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52, 3968–3974.
- Seddique, A.A., Masuda, H., Mitamura, M., Shinoda, K., Yamanaka, T., Itai, T., Maruoka, T., Uesugi, K., Ahmed, K.M., Biswas, D.K., 2008. Arsenic release from biotite into a Holocene groundwater aquifer in Bangladesh. Appl. Geochem. 23, 2236–2248.
- Seyfferth, A.L., Limmer, M.A., Dykes, G.E., 2018. Chapter two on the use of silicon as an agronomic mitigation strategy to decrease arsenic uptake by Rice. In: Sparks, D.L. (Ed.), Advances in Agronomy. 149. Academic Press, pp. 49–91.
- Shahid, M., Khalid, M., Dumat, C., Khalid, S., Niazi, N.K., Imran, M., Bibi, I., Ahmad, I., Hammad, H.M., Tabassum, R.A., 2017. Arsenic level and risk assessment of groundwater in Vehari, Punjab Province, Pakistan. Exposure and Health 1–11.
- Shahid, M., Niazi, N.K., Dumat, C., Naidu, R., Khalid, S., Rahman, M.M., Bibi, I., 2018. A metaanalysis of the distribution, sources and health risks of arsenic-contaminated groundwater in Pakistan. Environ. Pollut. 242, 307–319.
- Shakoor, M.B., Bibi, I., Niazi, N.K., Shahid, M., Nawaz, M.F., Farooqi, A., Naidu, R., Rahman, M.M., Murtaza, G., Lüttge, A., 2018. The evaluation of arsenic contamination potential, speciation and hydrogeochemical behaviour in aquifers of Punjab, Pakistan. Chemosphere 199, 737–746.
- Shen, B., Wang, X., Zhang, Y., Zhang, M., Wang, K., Xie, P., Ji, H., 2020. The optimum pH and eh for simultaneously minimizing bioavailable cadmium and arsenic contents in soils under the organic fertilizer application. Sci. Total Environ. 135229, 711.
- Smedley, P., Kinniburgh, D., 2002. A review of the source, behaviour and distribution of arsenic in natural waters. Appl. Geochem. 17, 517–568.
- Smedley, P.L., Kinniburgh, D.G., 2001. Source and behaviour of arsenic in natural waters. United Nations synthesis report on arsenic in drinking water. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 1–61. https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/ dwq/arsenicun1.pdf.
- Sohi SP, Krull E, Lopez-Capel E, Bol R. A review of biochar and its use and function in soil. Adv. Agron. 105. Elsevier, 2010, pp. 47–82.
- Song, W.-Y., Yamaki, T., Yamaji, N., Ko, D., Jung, K.-H., Fujii-Kashino, M., An, G., Martinoia, E., Lee, Y., Ma, J.F., 2014. A rice ABC transporter, OsABCC1, reduces arsenic accumulation in the grain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 15699–15704.
- Sracek, O., Bhattacharya, P., Jacks, G., Gustafsson, J.-P., Von Brömssen, M., 2004. Behavior of arsenic and geochemical modeling of arsenic enrichment in aqueous environments. Appl. Geochem. 19, 169–180.
- Srivastava, S., Pathare, V., Sounderajan, S., Suprasanna, P., 2019. Nitrogen supply influences arsenic accumulation and stress responses of rice (Oryza sativa L.) seedlings. J. Hazard. Mater. 367, 599–606.
- Suda, A., Makino, T., 2016. Functional effects of manganese and iron oxides on the dynamics of trace elements in soils with a special focus on arsenic and cadmium: a review. Geoderma 270, 68–75.
- Sun, G.-X., Zhang, L., Chen, P., Yao, B.-M., 2020. Silicon fertilizers mitigate rice cadmium and arsenic uptake in a 4-year field trial. J. Soils Sediments 1–9.
- Suriyagoda, L.D., Dittert, K., Lambers, H., 2018. Mechanism of arsenic uptake, translocation and plant resistance to accumulate arsenic in rice grains. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 253, 23–37.

- Talukder, A., Meisner, C., Sarkar, M., Islam, M., Sayre, K., Duxbury, J., Lauren, J., 2012. Effect of water management, arsenic and phosphorus levels on rice in a high-arsenic soilwater system: II. Arsenic uptake. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 80, 145–151.
- Talukder, A.S.M.H.M., Meisner, C.A., Sarkar, M.A.R., Islam, M.S., 2011. Effect of water management, tillage options and phosphorus status on arsenic uptake in rice. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 74, 834–839.
- Talukder, A.S.M.H.M., Meisner, C.A., Sarkar, M.A.R., Islam, M.S., Sayre, K.D., 2014. Effects of water management, arsenic and phosphorus levels on Rice yield in high-arsenic soilwater system. Rice Sci. 21, 99–107.
- Tang, X., Li, L., Wu, C., Khan, M.I., Manzoor, M., Zou, L., Shi, J., 2020a. The response of arsenic bioavailability and microbial community in paddy soil with the application of sulfur fertilizers. Environ. Pollut. 114679.
- Tang, X., Shen, H., Chen, M., Yang, X., Yang, D., Wang, F., Chen, Z., Liu, X., Wang, H., Xu, J., 2020b. Achieving the safe use of cd- and as-contaminated agricultural land with an Fe-based biochar: a field study. Sci. Total Environ. 706, 135898.
- Thounaojam, T.C., Khan, Z., 2020. Upadhyaya H. Transport, and Metabolism in Rice. Arsenic in Drinking Water and Food. Springer, Molecular Physiology of Arsenic Uptake, pp. 391–410.
- Tsai, S.-L., Singh, S., Chen, W., 2009. Arsenic metabolism by microbes in nature and the impact on arsenic remediation. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 20, 659–667.
- Turpeinen, R., Pantsar-Kallio, M., Häggblom, M., Kairesalo, T., 1999. Influence of microbes on the mobilization, toxicity and biomethylation of arsenic in soil. Sci. Total Environ. 236, 173–180.
- Turpeinen, R., Pantsar-Kallio, M., Kairesalo, T., 2002. Role of microbes in controlling the speciation of arsenic and production of arsines in contaminated soils. Sci. Total Environ. 285, 133–145.
- Uddin, M.K., 2017. A review on the adsorption of heavy metals by clay minerals, with special focus on the past decade. Chem. Eng. J. 308, 438–462.
- Upadhyay, M.K., Yadav, P., Shukla, A., Srivastava, S., 2018. Utilizing the potential of microorganisms for managing arsenic contamination: a feasible and sustainable approach. Frontiers in Environmental Science https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2018.00024.
- Upadhyay, M.K., Shukla, A., Yadav, P., Srivastava, S., 2019. A review of arsenic in crops, vegetables, animals and food products. Food Chem. 276, 608–618.
- Wan, Y., Huang, Q., Camara, A.Y., Wang, Q., Li, H., 2019. Water management impacts on the solubility of cd, Pb, as, and Cr and their uptake by rice in two contaminated paddy soils. Chemosphere 228, 360–369.
- Wang, N.-X., Huang, B., Xu, S., Wei, Z.-B., Miao, A.-J., Ji, R., Yang, L.-Y., 2014a. Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus on arsenite accumulation, oxidation, and toxicity in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Aquat. Toxicol. 157, 167–174.
- Wang, P., Sun, G., Jia, Y., Meharg, A.A., Zhu, Y., 2014b. A review on completing arsenic biogeochemical cycle: microbial volatilization of arsines in environment. J. Environ. Sci. 26, 371–381.
- Wang, Y., Liu, X.-h., Si, Y.-b., Wang, R.-f., 2016. Release and transformation of arsenic from As-bearing iron minerals by Fe-reducing bacteria. Chem. Eng. J. 295, 29–38.
- Wang, Y., Li, P., Guo, Q., Jiang, Z., Liu, M., 2018a. Environmental biogeochemistry of high arsenic geothermal fluids. Appl. Geochem. 97, 81–92.
- Wang, X., Liu, T., Li, F., Li, B., Liu, C., 2018b. Effects of simultaneous application of ferrous iron and nitrate on arsenic accumulation in rice grown in contaminated paddy soil. ACS Earth and Space Chemistry 2, 103–111.
- Wang, M., Tang, Z., Chen, X.-P., Wang, X., Zhou, W.-X., Tang, Z., Zhang, J., Zhao, F.-J., 2019a. Water management impacts the soil microbial communities and total arsenic and methylated arsenicals in rice grains. Environ. Pollut. 247, 736–744.
- Wang, X., Yu, H.-Y., Li, F., Liu, T., Wu, W., Liu, C., Liu, C., Zhang, X., 2019b. Enhanced immobilization of arsenic and cadmium in a paddy soil by combined applications of woody peat and Fe(NO3)3: possible mechanisms and environmental implications. Sci. Total Environ. 649, 535–543.
- Wasserman, G.A., Liu, X., Parvez, F., Chen, Y., Factor-Litvak, P., Lolacono, N.J., Levy, D., Shahriar, H., Uddin, M.N., Islam, T., Lomax, A., Saxena, R., Gibson, E.A., Kioumourtzoglou, M.-A., Balac, O., Sanchez, T., Kline, J.K., Santiago, D., Ellis, T., van Geen, A., Graziano, J.H., 2018. A cross-sectional study of water arsenic exposure and intellectual function in adolescence in Araihazar, Bangladesh. Environ. Int. 118, 304–313.
- Wen, E., Yang, X., Chen, H., Shaheen, S.M., Sarkar, B., Xu, S., Song, H., Liang, Y., Rinklebe, J., Hou, D., 2020. Iron-modified biochar and water management regime-induced changes in plant growth, enzyme activities, and phytoavailability of arsenic, cadmium and lead in a paddy soil. J. Hazard. Mater. 407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2020.124344 124344.
- WHO, 2011. Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality. 4, 315-318.
- Williams, P.N., Zhang, H., Davison, W., Meharg, A.A., Hossain, M., Norton, G.J., Brammer, H., Islam, M.R., 2011. Organic matter—solid phase interactions are critical for predicting arsenic release and plant uptake in Bangladesh Paddy soils. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 6080–6087.
- Wu, J., Zhang, R., Lilley, R.M., 2002. Methylation of arsenic in vitro by cell extracts from bentgrass (Agrostis tenuis): effect of acute exposure of plants to arsenate. Funct. Plant Biol. 29, 73–80.

- Wu, J., Li, Z., Wang, L., Liu, X., Tang, C., Xu, J., 2020. A novel calcium-based magnetic biochar reduces the accumulation of as in grains of rice (Oryza sativa L.) in ascontaminated paddy soils. J. Hazard. Mater. 394, 122507.
- Xiao, K.-Q., Li, L.-G., Ma, L.-P., Zhang, S.-Y., Bao, P., Zhang, T., Zhu, Y.-G., 2016. Metagenomic analysis revealed highly diverse microbial arsenic metabolism genes in paddy soils with low-arsenic contents. Environ. Pollut. 211, 1–8.
- Xie, X., Peng, K., Wang, Y., Li, J., Qian, K., Deng, Y., Gan, Y., 2020. In situ arsenic immobilization by chemical oxidation: field trial and reactive transport modelling. J. Hydrol. 583, 124645.
- Xu, X., Chen, C., Wang, P., Kretzschmar, R., Zhao, F.-J., 2017. Control of arsenic mobilization in paddy soils by manganese and iron oxides. Environ. Pollut. 231, 37–47.
- Xue, S., Jiang, X., Wu, C., Hartley, W., Qian, Z., Luo, X., Li, W., 2020. Microbial driven iron reduction affects arsenic transformation and transportation in soil-rice system. Environ. Pollut. 260, 114010.
- Yan, M., Zeng, X., Wang, J., Meharg, A.A., Meharg, C., Tang, X., Zhang, L., Bai, L., Zhang, J., Su, S., 2020. Dissolved organic matter differentially influences arsenic methylation and volatilization in paddy soils. J. Hazard. Mater. 388, 121795.
- Yan, Y., Ye, J., Xue, X.-M., Zhu, Y.-G., 2015. Arsenic demethylation by a C· as lyase in cyanobacterium Nostoc sp. PCC 7120. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 14350–14358.
- Yang, Y.-P., Zhang, H.-M., Yuan, H.-Y., Duan, G.-L., Jin, D.-C., Zhao, F.-J., Zhu, Y.-G., 2018. Microbe mediated arsenic release from iron minerals and arsenic methylation in rhizosphere controls arsenic fate in soil-rice system after straw incorporation. Environ. Pollut. 236, 598–608.
- Yang, Y.-P., Tang, X.-J., Zhang, H.-M., Cheng, W.-D., Duan, G.-L., Zhu, Y.-G., 2020. The characterization of arsenic biotransformation microbes in paddy soil after straw biochar and straw amendments. J. Hazard. Mater. 391, 122200.
- Yu, H.-Y., Wang, X., Li, F., Li, B., Liu, C., Wang, Q., Lei, J., 2017a. Arsenic mobility and bioavailability in paddy soil under iron compound amendments at different growth stages of rice. Environ. Pollut. 224, 136–147.
- Yu, Z., Qiu, W., Wang, F., Lei, M., Wang, D., Song, Z., 2017b. Effects of manganese oxidemodified biochar composites on arsenic speciation and accumulation in an indica rice (Oryza sativa L.) cultivar. Chemosphere 168, 341–349.
- Yuan C, Qiao J, Li F, Zhang X, Du Y, Hu M, Sun W. Community dynamics of as(V)-reducing and as(III)-oxidizing genes during a wet–dry cycle in paddy soil amended with organic matter, gypsum, or iron oxide. J. Hazard. Mater. 2020; 393: 122485.
- Zakharyan, R.A., Aposhian, H.V., 1999. Arsenite methylation by Methylvitamin B12and glutathione does not require an enzyme. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 154, 287–291.
- Zama, E.F., Reid, B.J., Arp, H.P.H., Sun, G.-X., Yuan, H.-Y., Zhu, Y.-G., 2018. Advances in research on the use of biochar in soil for remediation: a review. J. Soils Sediments 1–18.
- Zhai, W., Dai, Y., Zhao, W., Yuan, H., Qiu, D., Chen, J., Gustave, W., Maguffin, S.C., Chen, Z., Liu, X., Tang, X., Xu, J., 2020a. Simultaneous immobilization of the cadmium, lead and arsenic in paddy soils amended with titanium gypsum. Environ. Pollut. 258, 113790.
- Zhai, W., Zhao, W., Yuan, H., Guo, T., Hashmi, M.Z., Liu, X., Tang, X., 2020b. Reduced cd, Pb, and as accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.) by a combined amendment of calcium sulfate and ferric oxide. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27, 1348–1358.
- Zhang, D., Yuan, Z., Wang, S., Jia, Y., Demopoulos, G.P., 2015a. Incorporation of arsenic into gypsum: relevant to arsenic removal and immobilization process in hydrometallurgical industry. J. Hazard. Mater. 300, 272–280.
- Zhang, J., Zhao, Q.-Z., Duan, G.-L., Huang, Y.-C., 2011. Influence of Sulphur on arsenic accumulation and metabolism in rice seedlings. Environ. Exp. Bot. 72, 34–40.
- Zhang, S., Geng, L., Fan, L., Zhang, M., Zhao, Q., Xue, P., Liu, W., 2020. Spraying silicon to decrease inorganic arsenic accumulation in rice grain from arsenic-contaminated paddy soil. Sci. Total Environ. 704, 135239.
- Zhang, S.-Y., Zhao, F.-J., Sun, G.-X., Su, J.-Q., Yang, X.-R., Li, H., Zhu, Y.-G., 2015b. Diversity and abundance of arsenic biotransformation genes in Paddy soils from southern China. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 4138–4146.
- Zhao, F.-J., Zhu, Y.-G., Meharg, A.A., 2013. Methylated arsenic species in rice: geographical variation, origin, and uptake mechanisms. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 3957–3966.
- Zhao, K., Liu, X., Xu, J., Selim, H.M., 2010. Heavy metal contaminations in a soil-rice system: identification of spatial dependence in relation to soil properties of paddy fields. J. Hazard. Mater. 181, 778–787.
- Zhao, Y., Wang, S., Li, Y., Liu, J., Zhuo, Y., Chen, H., Wang, J., Xu, L., Sun, Z., 2018. Extensive reclamation of saline-sodic soils with flue gas desulfurization gypsum on the Songnen plain, Northeast China. Geoderma 321, 52–60.
- Zhu, N., Qiao, J., Yan, T., 2019. Arsenic immobilization through regulated ferrolysis in paddy field amendment with bismuth impregnated biochar. Sci. Total Environ. 648, 993–1001.
- Zia, Z., Bakhat, H.F., Saqib, Z.A., Shah, G.M., Fahad, S., Ashraf, M.R., Hammad, H.M., Naseem, W., Shahid, M., 2017. Effect of water management and silicon on germination, growth, phosphorus and arsenic uptake in rice. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 144, 11–18.
- Zou, L., Zhang, S., Duan, D., Liang, X., Shi, J., Xu, J., Tang, X., 2018. Effects of ferrous sulfate amendment and water management on rice growth and metal (loid) accumulation in arsenic and lead co-contaminated soil. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 1–15.